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The Directors are responsible for the maintenance of 
adequate accounting records and the preparation 
and integrity of the financial statements and the related 
information. The auditors are responsible for reporting 
on the fair presentation of the financial statements. 
The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and in the manner required by the 
Mutual Banks Act 124, 1993.

The Directors are also responsible for the Bank’s systems 
of internal financial and operational controls. These 
systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not 
absolute assurance as to the reliability of the financial 
statements, and to adequately safeguard, verify and 
maintain accountability of the assets, and to prevent 

and detect misstatement and loss. Nothing has come 
to the attention of the Directors to indicate that any 
material breakdown in the functioning of these controls, 
procedures and systems has occurred during the year 
under review.

The financial statements have been prepared on the 
going concern basis, since the Directors have every 
reason to believe that the Bank has adequate resources 
in place to continue in operation for the foreseeable 
future.

The attached annual financial statements set out on
pages 6 to 67 were approved by the Board of Directors 
on 28 May 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

FO SK AE
CHAIRMAN

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTSBOARD OF DIRECTORS       

NOTICE OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 144th Annual General Meeting of Members will be held electronically on 22 July 2021, at 17h00. In light of the 
ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, the AGM will be held as a virtual meeting. Details of how to register to join on-line or 
as a dial-in participant, as well as details of how to pre-submit questions, will be made available from Wednesday 
14 July 2021 at the website address below. Attendees must register by Friday 16 July 2021.

www.gbsbank.co.za/AGM2021

AGENDA

1.   To confirm the minutes of the last Annual General Meeting.
2.    To receive and consider the report of the Board of Directors and the Annual Financial Statements for the year 

ended 31 March 2021. 
3.    To appoint Auditors and fix their remuneration. PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., Registered Accountants and 

Auditors, offer themselves for re-election and have been duly nominated.
4.   To fix the remuneration of Directors in terms of Article 21 (vi).
5.    To pass a resolution that donations for charitable purposes may be made as the Directors see fit out of 

available profits.
6.   To transact such business as may be brought forward at the Annual General Meeting.

By order of the Board of Directors.
P HORNBY
COMPANY SECRETARY

The audited annual financial statements and reports thereon will be available for inspection at the Bank’s Head 
Office and branches of the Bank as well as the website www.gbsbank.co.za

NAME ROLE OF THE DIRECTOR APPOINTED QUALIFICATIONS ATTENDANCE

FO Skae Independent Non-Executive Director (Chairman) 2014 MCom, MBA 11/11

PG Clayton Independent Non-Executive Director 2003 PhD, FSAICS 11/11

JM Fincham Executive Director 2016 BScS, CA (SA) 11/11

KW Maree Independent Non-Executive Director 2016 MCom, CA (SA) 11/11

AM Marriner Lead Independent Non-Executive Director 2010 BSc (Hons) 11/11

TCS Tagg Independent Non-Executive Director 1996 BCom, CA (SA) 11/11

AM Vorster Managing Director 2007 BCom, MBA 11/11

KL Wiblin Independent Non-Executive Director 2004 BAccSc (Hons) 11/11

NAME ROLE OF THE EXECUTIVE JOINED QUALIFICATIONS

AM Vorster Managing Director 2007 BCom, MBA

JM Fincham Executive Director 2016 BScS, CA (SA)

P Hornby Company Secretary 1997 BCom

WS Vallance General Manager: Cape Town 1998 DipAIB

JM Williams General Manager: Finance 2020 MCom CA (SA)

MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE

AM VORSTER
MANAGING DIRECTOR

GBS Mutual Bank Statement of Responsibility
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT 
OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 �  Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

 �  Obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Bank’s internal control.

 � Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of  
accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the directors.

 � Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether 
a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date 
of our auditor’s report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

 � Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among  
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the  
audit and significant audit findings, including any  
significant deficiencies in internal control that we  
identify during our audit.

Independent Auditor’s Report 
(continued)

OUR OPINION
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in 
all material respects, the financial position of GBS Mutual 
Bank (the Bank) as at 31 March 2021, and its financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of the Mutual Banks 
Act, 1993.

WHAT WE HAVE AUDITED
GBS Mutual Bank’s financial statements set out on 
pages 16 to 67 comprise:

 � the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 
2021;

 � the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income for the year then ended;

 � the Statement of Changes in Equity for the year 
then ended;

 � the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then 
ended; and

 � the Notes to the Financial Statements, which 
include a summary of significant accounting 
policies.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

INDEPENDENCE
We are independent of the Bank in accordance with 
the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of 
Professional Conduct for  Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) 
and other independence requirements applicable 
to performing audits of financial statements in South 
Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance 
with other ethical requirements applicable to performing  
audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent  
with the corresponding sections of the International  
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International  
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including  
International Independence Standards).

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors are responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the information 
included in the document titled “GBS Mutual Bank 
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 
March 2021”, which we obtained prior to the date of the 
auditor’s report, and the other sections of the document 
titled “144th Annual Report of GBS Mutual Bank for 
the year ended 31 March 2021”, which is expected 
to be made available to us after that date. The other 
information does not include the financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover 
the other information and we do not and will not express 
an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other 
information that we obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR 
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and 
the requirements of the Mutual Banks Act, 1993, and 
for such internal control as the directors determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are 
responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to 
liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.

Director: AF Puggia 
Registered Auditor
Port Elizabeth, South Africa
28 May 2021

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GBS MUTUAL BANK

Independent Auditor’s Report 
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PERFORMANCE
The statement of financial position held up particularly 
well and added 7.6% to R1.742 billion in a tough business 
environment. Loans and advances reflected growth 
of 1.5%, while member and other deposits grew by 
a satisfactory 7.7%. The additional funds raised from 
depositors that were not advanced on loans were 
invested in cash and other investment instruments as 
noted in the report. Cash and cash equivalents and 
investments increased from R378 million to R476 million. As 
disclosed in Note 5, the Bank divested completely from 
Treasury Bills as high-quality liquid assets, and invested 
R164 million in RSA Government Bonds at attractive 
yields. The Bank also purchased additional preference 
shares which were valued at R29 million at March 2021. 
These are held to enhance the treasury yield.

Debt provisions are reported in compliance with IFRS 9 
and disclosed in notes 1 and 16 of the report. Provisions of 
R5.4 million were released over the year with provisions 
of R31 million remaining at the end of March. The Board 
remain of the view that we are prudently provided and 
are pleased that the amounts actually written off were 
less than R1 million. 
 
The Bank remains well capitalized with a capital 
adequacy ratio of 11.6% against a required ratio of 
10%. Secondary capital, mainly qualifying fixed period 
shares, increased from R65 million last year to R72 million.

The interest income for the year was R26 million less 
than last year, mainly due to assets repricing faster 
than liabilities, but in line with expectations. Fair value 
adjustments turned from a loss of R6.6 million last year  
to a gain of R7.3 million, mainly as a result of the 
preference shares re-pricing over the year. Other 
operating income was mainly from the sale of some 
Government Bonds.

Core operating losses has been driven by declining 
margins, but has been kept in check through cost control 
and containment.

Report of the Directors 
“In what has been a tough year, we remain humbled 
by the support from our members and depositors, 
and impressed with the tenacity of our borrowers.” 
– Owen Skae, Chairman, GBS Mutual Bank, 
May 2021

The Board has pleasure in reporting to members and 
stakeholders on the results of our GBS Mutual Bank (the 
Bank or GBS) for the year ended 31 March 2021. 

This past year will be remembered as the year of 
COVID-19, experiencing lockdowns, remote working 
and social distancing. The social and economic cost 
has been devastating and we extend our condolences 
to those in the GBS family who experienced loss. The 
pandemic is still very much with us, and hence we are 
not yet able to drop our guard. The vaccination rollout 
has commenced and it is our fervent hope that the 
government will work with the private sector to ensure 
that it proceeds as speedily as possible, so that we 
achieve the desired herd immunity.

Along with most other banks we focussed on maintaining 
operational stability and ensuring the resilience of 
our statement of financial position. This was done by 
focussed management of key risks, including credit 
and liquidity risks, through the pandemic and ensuring 
stability and sustainability of the Bank. We are pleased 
that our client service ethic was maintained through 
what was a tough year.

Last year we reported that we expected a sharp 
contraction in the interest margin, and negative growth 
on the loans and advances portfolios. The interest margin 
was materially lower than in the past, while our loans and 
advances portfolios held up better than we expected 
and actually showed small growth year on year. 

In order to assist investors, we have maintained our 
deposit rates at competitive levels. This has somewhat 
eased their pain of lower interest and speaks to 
our mutuality. Consequently, the liquidity position 
strengthened significantly over the period to the extent 
that our surplus cash and investments are better than 
they have ever been. This positions us well for the 
future and indicates continued strong support from our 
depositor base, mainly in the Eastern Cape. 

We have also been able to assist many of our borrowers 
by granting negotiated payment holidays in which a 
number of mortgage and asset-based finance loans 
were restructured. This immense task was well managed 
by branch and operations staff, and we are grateful for 
the support of our borrowers and brokers in this process. 
Throughout the year the core operations of the Bank 
remained sound.

Capital continues to be managed in terms of long-
term capital plans which include a buffer above the 
minimum statutory requirement of 10%. Considerable 
time was invested in ensuring that the capital position 
was maintained in terms of the plans, and managed 
to ensure stability in the medium and long term, with 
sufficient capital to grow the Bank in line with strategic 
goals. We expect the impairment of our capital by the 
holding of preference shares to fall away in 2023. At that 
point our capital position will improve by about 1.9% to 
comfortably above 13%.

The Board approved succession plan for senior 
executives retiring in the next few years remains an 
important governance priority. Part of the plan includes 
two Executives, the Company Secretary and the 
General Manager: Cape Town, being contracted on a 
slightly reduced time basis to ensure appropriate hand-
over to incoming successors.

ECONOMY
The South African economy contracted by 7% last year,  
the largest contraction in decades. The outlook for the 
current year is somewhat better with most economists 
expecting growth of around 4%, before reducing to 
between 1% and 2% thereafter. This structurally weak 
economy will need to be urgently and fundamentally 
addressed if we are to deal with our unemployment 
problem, lack of service delivery, education crisis, health 
services and other underlying problems that COVID-19  
has highlighted more than ever. We take heart that the 
Zondo Commission has thrown a spotlight on the blight 
of systemic corruption that has debilitated our country 
for far too long and we are optimistic that meaningful 
action will result in justice being served. Key State-Owned 
Enterprises, such as Eskom, are hopefully on a turnaround 
path, but there is still much to be done before they achieve 
sustainability. In short, there is no room for complacency 
and we all have a role to play in driving the requisite 
economic growth that this country so desperately needs.

Interest rates were lowered sharply in the first half of 
last year in response to the pandemic and lock-down, 
before settling at a prime rate of 7% in July. The lower 
interest rates have supported borrowers, but investors 
have been negatively impacted as term deposit rates 
re-priced lower over time.

The South African Rand strengthened from R19/1US$ 
in April last year to around R14.5/1US$ in April this year, 
while inflation fell sharply to 2.1% in May last year before 
returning to average about 3% for the year to March 
2021. Inflation is expected to rise in the current year and 
average above 4%. The Bank does not expect interest 
rates to rise until 2022. 

Despite the erosion of interest margin, pre-provisioning 
operating profit increased marginally due to fair value gains 
made on investments.

Operating expenses were tightly controlled and 
increased by 4.1% year on year. These are monitored 
by tracking costs to average assets and the ratio was a 
satisfactory 2.2% for the year.

Cost containment and control measures have resulted  
in the continued trend of a decrease in costs to average 
asset ratio. 

In a challenging year we are pleased with the level 
of comprehensive income of R7.2 million (against R7.8 
million loss last year) and are pleasantly surprised by 
the level of outperformance. We remain focussed on 
ensuring the strength of the statement of financial 
position and continued operational resilience along 
with outstanding client service.

The 2020 comprehensive loss was recovered in 2021 and 
comprehensive income has returned close to pre-2020 levels. 

Report of the Directors (Continued)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED)
The Audit Committee considered the following key focus 
areas during the year:

 � Considered and monitored the impact of 
COVID-19 on the general operations of the Bank.

 � Approved the appointment of the external 
auditors, their engagement letters and related 
remuneration.

 � Considered and approved the external and 
internal audit plans for the year.

 � Evaluated auditor independence and audit 
quality with reference to a number of external and 
internal indicators.

 � Considered the impact of COVID-19 on the 
annual report and ensured that the effects of 
the pandemic were appropriately recognized, 
disclosed and reported on.

 � Specifically considered the impact of COVID-19 
on the measurement of the Bank’s allowances for 
expected credit losses, capital adequacy and 
general financial health. Particular consideration 
was given to the external auditor’s views on the 
measurement of the allowance for expected 
credit losses and the forward looking parameters 
used. In all instances, the Committee was satisfied 
that the Bank had addressed the effects of the 
pandemic appropriately and remains financially 
sound and recommended the effects as reported 
to the Board for approval. 

 � Considered the annual financial statements and 
recommended these to the Board for approval.

 � Considered the external auditors’ report and the 
key audit matters contained therein. 

 � Reviewed the external auditors’ reports to 
management and the Bank’s responses to 
findings.

 � Reviewed the internal auditor’s reports to 
management and the Bank’s responses to 
findings.

 � Reviewed the external auditors’ report relating to 
regulatory submissions to the Prudential Authority.

 � Considered the Bank’s ability to continue 
operating as a going concern and concluded 
that this was the case. 

 � Concluded that the system of internal controls 
was operating effectively and that there were no 
material breakdowns in internal controls.

 � Considered and implemented the disclosure 
requirements of King IV.

 � Considered matters of compliance as referred 
from the Compliance Committee.

The Committee reviewed the audit charter and is 
satisfied that it fulfilled its responsibilities in accordance 
with this charter for the reporting period.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

COMMITTEE MEMBERS               ATTENDANCE
FO Skae (Chair)                 1/1
JM Fincham                 1/1
S Mabaso                 1/1
AM Marriner                 1/1
WS Vallance                 1/1
AM Vorster                 1/1
JM Williams                 1/1

The Business Development Committee is responsible for 
advising and making recommendations to the Board  
on the implementation and monitoring of the strategy  
as formulated and agreed to by the Board. It also 
assesses product and service offerings, more specifically 
in relation to maintaining financial health, considering 
risk measures, developing and enhancing the GBS 
brand, enhancing the operational environment, 
compliance with mandatory statutory and regulatory 
requirements, human resource management and 
governance architecture.

It is chaired by an independent non-executive director 
and membership includes one other independent non-
executive director, an independent non-executive 
member, the Managing Director, Executive Director, the 
General Manager: Finance and the General Manager: 
Cape Town. 

As a consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic, the 
Committee met once during the year and considered 
the following key focus areas: 

 � Strategic matters: Due to COVID-19, some agreed 
strategic plan implementation actions were 
suspended, with a focus on addressing urgent 
core business priorities as circumstances dictated. 
The Committee was satisfied that the right 
decisions were made in this regard.

 � Product development: Whilst the planned 
on-going development of some product 
development initiatives were suspended, the 
pandemic nevertheless provided an opportunity 
for the Committee to consider new operating 
requirements that the Bank would face in the 
changed business environment.

 � Data analytics: Good progress was reported on 
improved data analytics for decision making as 
pertained to business development.

The Business Development Committee reviewed and 
updated its terms of reference. Notwithstanding only 
one meeting being held in the year, the Committee is 
satisfied that it fulfilled its mandate. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
We recognise that the application of sound corporate 
governance practices is integral to our operations as a 
bank. We do not consider governance to be merely a set 
of rules but an ethical culture that permeates the Bank. 
The Board is mindful that good governance is an ongoing 
process of interrogating its fiduciary obligations thereby 
ensuring requisite integrity, competence, responsibility, 
accountability, fairness and transparency.

The Board is committed to the King Code on Corporate 
GovernanceTM and is aligned to the King IV principles 
and practices, on a proportional “apply and explain” 
basis, as well as the Basel Committee on banking 
supervision guidelines where possible and practical. In 
addition, the Bank subscribes to the Code of Banking 
Practice and its underlying values. The Directors are 
all members of the Institute of Directors South Africa 
(IoDSA).

The Board has the ultimate responsibility for the strategic 
direction of the Bank and is committed to the ongoing 
implementation of a culture of good values and sound 
corporate governance.

The Board comprises eight directors, six being non-
executive, including the Chair. This ensures that 
independent thought is brought to bear on Board 
decisions. Effective control is maintained through a 
structure of well functioning Board Committees, which 
provide in-depth focus on specific areas.

During the year each committee of the Board undertook 
a formal review of its performance. The Board is satisfied 
that each committee has met its responsibilities in this 
regard.

Despite the pandemic, the Board continued to meet 
monthly with 100% attendance from every Board 
member. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE

COMMITTEE MEMBERS               ATTENDANCE
KW Maree (Chair)                4/4
TCS Tagg                                            4/4
KL Wiblin                    4/4

The Audit Committee is chaired by an independent 
non-executive director and membership includes two 
other independent non-executive directors. The Audit 
Committee members have collective qualifications 
and experience in banking, accounting and auditing. 
The Audit Committee members are also members 
of the Risk Management Committee and some also 

serve on the Compliance Committee, Remuneration 
Committee, Information Technology Committee and 
Operations Committee, Investment Committee and 
Directors’ Affairs Committee. Membership of the other 
committees provides an integrated understanding and 
oversight of key matters affecting the Bank.

The operation of the Audit Committee is guided by a 
detailed mandate that is informed by the Companies 
Act, the Mutual Banks Act, the King IV Code on 
Corporate Governance and is approved by the Board. 

The Audit Committee meets at least quarterly and 
oversees all matters regarding assurance, compliance 
and reporting. In fulfilling its mandate the Audit 
Committee subscribes to a combined assurance model 
to provide a coordinated approach to all assurance 
activities. 

The Committee evaluates auditor independence 
and audit quality and is satisfied with the quality and 
effectiveness of assurance services provided to the 
Bank. The external auditors employ a policy of partner 
rotation and a new audit partner was appointed during 
the 2020 financial year. The Audit Committee is also 
satisfied that the external auditors have considered 
significant matters in relation to the annual financial 
statements and that these have been appropriately 
addressed. All non-audit services are pre-approved 
by the Audit Committee and the Committee is satisfied  
that non-audit services are not significant and that the 
Bank’s external auditors are independent. There have 
not been any significant changes to management 
personnel of the Bank which may bring the 
independence of the external auditors into question. 
The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board 
the reappointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. for 
the 2022 financial year. 

The Committee also evaluates the overall control 
environment and is satisfied with the effectiveness, 
design and implementation thereof. The Audit 
Committee is not aware of any significant weaknesses 
in the design, implementation or execution of internal 
controls that may result in material financial loss, fraud, 
corruption or error.

The Committee met four times during the year 
including an annual meeting with the Bank Supervision 
Department of the Prudential Authority. The external 
auditors and internal audit were present at three of the 
meetings and were given opportunities to raise any 
sensitive matters privately with the Audit Committee. 
The Managing Director, Executive Director, Company 
Secretary and General Manager: Finance also attend 
certain of the Committee meetings by invitation.

Report of the Directors (Continued) Report of the Directors (Continued)



11144th Annual Report 2020–202110 144th Annual Report 2020–2021

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED)
significant operational components. The Committee 
is responsible for the monitoring and reporting of 
operational risks and audit findings, ensuring that 
operational priorities are in line with those of the Board, 
and reviewing operational policies on a regular basis. 

Non-executive director membership of the two 
Committees is purposefully overlapped, and the 
agendas routinely intersect. For these reasons, the two 
Committees held joint meetings during the period under 
review. Both Committees are chaired by an independent 
non-executive director, and membership of the 
committees includes non-executive representation 
from the Audit Committee. The Managing Director, 
Executive Director, Company Secretary, Compliance 
Officer, senior IT staff, and Operations Supervisor are all 
standing invitees to the meetings. 

The Committees jointly met five times during the past 
year to discuss priority IT and operational issues in 
addition to the following focus areas. 

Key IT issues covered:
 � Prioritisation and progress of IT projects. 
 � Monitoring of the IT budget against actual expenses 
and capital expenditure.

 � Reviewing ongoing IT staffing requirements.
 � Regular review of the stability of the production 
environment.

 � Overview of the IT requirements for the successful 
implementation of several compliance projects, 
including SACRRA (South African Credit & Risk 
Reporting Association) and preparation for CoDI 
(Corporation of Deposit Insurance), and production 
projects, including planning for an on-line banking 
portal.

 � Ongoing review and enhancement of backup, 
disaster recovery, and cyber security systems, 
including Public Recipient Payment facilities with 
transaction banks, e-mail spoofing protection, 
penetration testing, and improved VPN (Virtual 
Private Network) facilities between branches. 

 � Review and approval of all IT-related policies and 
incident reports.

 � Oversight of the IT risk register, and the manage-
ment of issues reported in the external IT audit 
reports.

Key Operations issues covered:
 � Business continuity, particularly as related to the 
COVID-19 pandemic context.

 � Substantial process and operational aspects of 
payment holidays during the hard lockdown 
months of the COVID-19 pandemic.

 � Electrical resilience improvements.
 � External Audit reports relating to operations.
 � Legal Practitioners Fidelity Fund support system.
 � Operational compliance, including the POPI 
(Protection of Personal Information) Act.

 � Port Alfred branch relocation.
 � Review of the Operational Risk Register.
 � Staffing of operational functions.
 � Review and approval of all operations-related 
policies and incident reports.

The IT and Operations Committees are satisfied that 
they fulfilled their responsibilities in accordance with the 
respective terms of reference for the reporting period.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

COMMITTEE MEMBERS               ATTENDANCE
TCS Tagg (Chair)                            9/9
JM Fincham                  9/9
P Hornby                               9/9
KW Maree                                       9/9
FO Skae                  9/9
AM Vorster                               9/9
JM Williams                               9/9

The Investment Committee was formed in April 2020 after 
an early analysis of the effect of COVID-19 forecasted 
a substantial increase in the Bank’s excess liquidity. It 
became clear that the management of this liquidity 
would require the Bank to look beyond its traditional 
investment options and current liquidity management 
processes.

This Committee is primarily responsible for the governance 
of the investment and treasury functions within the 
organisation. The Committee is responsible for monitoring 
and reporting of market and liquidity risks, reviewing and 
recommending to the Board the organisation’s treasury 
and investment policy, overseeing the implementation 
of the investment strategy and setting and reviewing 
management’s treasury and investment mandate.

The Committee met nine times during the past year to 
consider the following key focus areas:

 � Developed the Committee’s terms of reference.
 � Evaluated and monitored the performance of the 
Bank’s cash and investment portfolio.

 � Evaluated potential investment instruments in line 
with the organisation’s risk appetite.

 � Approved switching investment holdings for 
statutory liquidity requirements from treasury bills to 
a mix of R186 and R2030 RSA government bonds.

 � Approved additional investments in R186 and 
R2030 government bonds and preference shares.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED)

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

COMMITTEE MEMBERS               ATTENDANCE
KW Maree (Chair)                 6/6
JM Fincham                     6/6
P Hornby                  6/6
B MacKenzie                      6/6
AM Vorster                  6/6
KL Wiblin                     6/6
JM Williams                     5/6

The Compliance Committee is chaired by an 
independent non-executive director. Committee 
membership includes one other independent non-
executive director, the Managing Director, Executive 
Director, Company Secretary, Compliance Officer and 
General Manager: Finance. The Compliance Committee 
members have collective qualifications and experience 
in banking, accounting, auditing and compliance.

The Compliance Committee is responsible for 
considering and monitoring the Bank’s compliance 
with regulatory and other relevant legislation.

The Compliance Committee meets bi-monthly and 
considered the following key focus areas during the year:

 � Compliance with regulatory requirements. In 
particular, the Committee considered and monitored 
current and future compliance requirements 
related to the National Credit Act (NCA), Financial 
Intelligence Centre Act (FICA), the South African 
Credit and Risk Reporting Association (SACRRA) and 
the Protection of Personal Information Act (POPIA).

 � Considered the Financial Sector Conduct Authority 
(FSCA) Conduct Standard for Banks.

 � Monitored the development and implementation of 
policies and procedures to satisfy the requirements 
of the Protection of Personal Information Act. 

 � Monitored the development of policies for 
managing compliance and recommended these 
to the Board for approval.

The role of the Compliance Committee is constituted in 
terms of a Board approved charter and the Committee 
is satisfied that it fulfilled its responsibilities in accordance 
with this charter for the reporting period. 

DIRECTORS & EXECUTIVES AFFAIRS COMMITTEE

COMMITTEE MEMBERS               ATTENDANCE
AM Marriner (Chair)              2/2
FO Skae                  2/2 
KL Wiblin               2/2 

The Directors and Executive Affairs Committee is 
chaired by an Independent non-executive director, 
and membership of the Committee includes two non-
executive directors. The Managing Director and the 
Company Secretary are invited to attend the meetings, 
as are other executives when required.

This Committee is responsible for the governance of 
matters pertaining to the Directors, the structure of the 
Executive Management Team and succession planning 
for key positions within the Bank. 

The Committee met twice during the past year to 
discuss the following key focus areas:

 � A review of the current structure of the senior 
management team. 

 � Subsequent discussions regarding the senior 
management succession plan, including detailed 
timeframes, job descriptions and the proposed 
process of advertising and making appointments, 
as several Executives are due to retire in the short 
to medium term. 

 � The appointment of an external member to the 
Gqeberha local committee. 

 � A review of the non-executive members of both 
the Board and the various sub-committees. 

 � The appointment of a new member to both the 
Audit and Business Development Committees. 

The members of the Directors and Executive Affairs 
Committee are satisfied that the Committee has 
fulfilled its responsibilities in accordance with its terms of 
reference for the reporting period.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY (IT) COMMITTEE  
& OPERATIONS COMMITTEE

COMMITTEE MEMBERS               ATTENDANCE
AM Marriner (Chair IT Committee)                    5/5
PG Clayton   (Chair Operations Committee)  5/5
KL Wiblin               5/5

The IT Committee is responsible for the governance of all 
IT projects at the Bank, as well as other initiatives which 
include a significant IT component. The Committee 
reviews the monitoring and reporting of all IT risks 
and audit findings; ensures that IT priorities are in line 
with those of the Board; evaluates resilience projects; 
monitors the annual IT budget; and revises all IT policies 
on a regular basis. 

The Operations Committee is responsible for the 
governance of business operational activities, oversight 
of any change management within the organisation, 
and of business processes and initiatives that have

Report of the Directors (Continued) Report of the Directors (Continued)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED)

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

 � Approved the sale of R2030 RSA government bonds.
 � Evaluated the impact of the investment strategy 
on capital risk, interest rate risk, and liquidity risk 
and considered the political risk to ensure that it 
remained within the Bank’s risk appetite.  

The Committee is satisfied that it fulfilled its responsibilities 
in accordance with its terms of reference for the 
reporting period.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

COMMITTEE MEMBERS               ATTENDANCE
KL Wiblin (Chair)                            1/1
AM Marriner                  1/1
FO Skae                               1/1

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for setting 
the remuneration policy for all executive directors, to 
recommend and monitor the level and structure of 
remuneration for senior management and overseeing 
any major changes to employee benefit structures.

The Committee is chaired by an independent non-
executive director and membership includes two other 
independent non-executive directors. The Managing 
Director and Company Secretary are standing invitees 
to committee meetings. No executive director or senior 
manager are involved in any decisions as to their own 
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee members have collective 
qualifications and experience in banking, accounting 
and human resource management.

The Remuneration Committee considered and 
recommended for approval by the Board the following 
key focus areas during the year under review:

 � Annual salary increments taking into consideration 
inflation factors, cost of living indices and salary 
adjustments applied by organisations that it 
benchmarks against. 

 � The long service awards and notification of staff 
retiring within the next ten years.

 � In light of the economic uncertainty caused by 
COVID-19 no profit share bonus allocation was 
made.  

The Remuneration Committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled 

its responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference 
for the reporting period.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

COMMITTEE MEMBERS               ATTENDANCE
FO Skae  (Chair)                1/1
PG Clayton                             1/1
JM Fincham                  1/1
P Hornby                               1/1
BG Mackenzie                               1/1
KW Maree                                       1/1
AM Marriner                               1/1
TCS Tagg                  1/1
WS Vallance                               1/1
AM Vorster                               1/1
KL Wiblin                                       1/1
JM Williams                               1/1

GBS Mutual Bank is a risk averse institution and its 
philosophy is based on principles of prudence in fulfilling 
its mission and vision. The purpose of this Committee 
is to assist the Board in fulfilling its accountability and 
responsibility of duties that pertain to Strategy, Policy, 
Oversight and Disclosure of the Bank’s Enterprise Risk 
Management Framework (ERMF). 

It is chaired by an independent non-executive director 
and membership includes all Non-executive Directors, 
Executive Directors, Company Secretary, General 
Managers and the Compliance Officer.
 
The Committee met once during the year and considered 
the following key focus areas:

 � Strategic risk: Due to COVID-19, it was acknowledged 
that the Bank was operating in a heightened risk 
environment and hence until such time as the 
economic and social circumstances improved, a 
strict focus on safety first, prudent risk management 
and keeping the existing operations maintained 
would be strictly adhered to.

 � Business risk: The business model of the Bank was 
deemed sufficiently robust to be maintained 
through the pandemic. 

 � Financial risk: Whilst it was inevitable that the Capital 
Adequacy Ratio (CAR) would face downward 
pressure in the heightened risk environment, the 
consistent monitoring and reporting on it by the 
Investment Committee and mitigation factors 
ensured the necessary oversight was provided. 
The surplus liquidity held by the Bank, ensured that 
there was an adequate buffer.

 � Operational risk: All safety protocols to ensure the 
well-being of staff and customers were deemed 

AM VORSTER
MANAGING DIRECTOR
28 May 2021

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED)

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

          appropriate. A focus on mandatory operational 
initiatives were prioritised to ensure that these were 
not compromised.

 � Compliance risk: No problem areas were identified 
and progress towards implementation of key 
compliance requirements were adhered to.

 � Reputation risk: Constant monitoring of this was 
maintained in the fortnightly Risk Management 
Sub-committee (RMSC) meetings.

 � Governance risk: In undertaking its integrating 
role regarding overall risk management, the 
Committee was satisfied that adequate risk 
compliance, measurement and reporting was 
fulfilled by management as the first line of defence 
and various Board Committees that had specific 
risk oversight as determined by their respective 
terms of reference.

 � Human resource risk: The Committee was satisfied 
that all reporting requirements had been met.

 � Market risk: Market risk factors that pertained to the 
Bank’s investments were reviewed monthly by the 
Investment Committee. 

The Risk Management Committee reviewed and 
updated its terms of reference. It confirmed that the 
overall risk appetite of the Bank remains one of prudence 
and conservative lending. Due to a lessening demand 
in the volume of deals, it was deemed appropriate that 
the RMSC meet fortnightly, instead of weekly and any 
market risk factors would be appropriately monitored 
by the newly established Investment Committee. Hence, 
notwithstanding only one meeting being held in the year, 
the Committee is satisfied that it fulfilled its mandate.

FO SK AE
CHAIRMAN
28 May 2021

OUTLOOK AND THANKS
A degree of uncertainty remains regarding the economic 
outlook, but we are significantly better positioned now 
than in May 2020 in that much of the ‘pain’ has been 
taken, and COVID-19 is better understood. The pandemic 
outlook is considerably better as vaccinations are now 
available and being rolled out globally. 

We expect that the average interest margin will be 
higher in the 2021/22 year than last year, but still well 
below our long-term average. 

We have taken steps during the pandemic that will 
serve the Bank well over the medium term, and remain 
well positioned to assist our members, term depositors 
and borrowers. The outlook, particularly beyond 2022, 
remains one of optimism.

We are most fortunate to have an experienced and 
committed Board of Directors, who have contributed 
to the success of the past year, and we thank them 
for their efforts. Ordinarily one would not wish to 
single out certain individuals and certainly, one must 
acknowledge that the year under review was an 
outstanding team effort from all staff of the Bank, who 
maintained high levels of morale and dedication in the 
most difficult of circumstances. This was no mean feat 
and hence we wish to especially thank the Executive 
team, ably guided by the Managing Director who led 
by example and made sure that the Bank stayed true 
to its values.

But most of all, we thank our members, depositors and 
borrowers for trusting us to manage their investments 
and loans.

Report of the Directors (Continued) Report of the Directors (Continued)
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FIVE YEAR REVIEW

YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH (R 000) 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Reserves  122 130  114 881  122 702  108 715  102 177 

Share deposits  250 279  264 998  258 604  275 562  265 875 

Deposits 1 343 723 1 215 399 1 126 615  984 891  875 191 

Other liabilities  25 744  24 123  26 638 23 327  21 611 

1 741 876 1 619 401 1 534 559 1 392 495 1 264 854 

Cash & short term securities  128 556  223 554  177 163  166 146  143 870 

Investments  346 951  154 319  172 214  134 581  118 779 

Loans and advances 1 244 978 1 219 678 1 178 015 1 085 106  995 752 

 - Mortgages and other  813 955  793 569  766 712  713 978  660 574 

 - Instalment sales, rentals  462 104  463 341  424 260  389 478  348 935 

 - Less: Risk provisions  31 081  37 232  12 957  18 350  13 757 

Other assets  21 391  21 850  7 167  6 662  6 453 

1 741 876 1 619 401 1 534 559 1 392 495 1 264 854 

FIVE YEAR REVIEW (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH (R 000) 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

INCOME STATEMENTS

Net interest margin  24 173  40 008  38 006  36 155  36 855 

Other income  9 022  5 464  5 309  4 981  4 199 

 33 195  45 472  43 315  41 136  41 054 

Operating expenses (36 996) (35 545) (40 216) (32 657) (32 723)

Core operating (loss) / profit (3 801)  9 927  3 099  8 479  8 331 

Fair value adjustments  7 317 (6 647)  10 567  5 013  8 579 

Pre-provisioning operating profit  3 516  3 280  13 666  13 492  16 910 

Impairments & provisions  5 358 (24 609) (1 030) (5 792) (5 924)

Pre-tax (loss)/profit before tax  8 874 (21 329)  12 636  7 700  10 986 

Tax (951)  5 703 (245) (619) (373)

Profit/(loss) for the year  7 923 (15 626)  12 391  7 081  10 613 

Other comprehensive (loss)/ income (674)  7 805  587 (543)  141 

Comprehensive income/(loss)  7 249 (7 821)  12 978  6 538  10 754 

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

KEY RATIOS – %

Capital adequacy at year end 11.6% 12.5% 14.0% 13.3% 13.2%

Bad debt provision: advances 2.4% 3.0% 1.1% 1.7% 1.4%

Costs to average assets 2.2% 2.3% 2.8% 2.5% 2.7%

Report of the Directors (Continued) Report of the Directors (Continued)
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 31 MARCH 2021

NOTES
2021..

R’000..
2020..

R’000..

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 4  128 556  223 554 

Investments 5  346 951  154 319 

Advances and loans 6 1 244 978 1 219 678 

Current income tax asset     - 715

Other assets 7  1 079 724 

Property and equipment 8  11 978  12 307 

Right-of-use assets 9  2 281  1 446 

Deferred income tax asset 10  6 053  6 658 

Total assets 1 741 876 1 619 401 

LIABILITIES

Share deposits 11  250 279  264 998 

Other deposits 11 1 343 723 1 215 399 

Other liabilities 12  8 658  9 818 

Lease liabilities 9  2 358  1 522 

Retirement benefit obligations 13  12 647  10 929 

Other long-term employee benefits 14  2 081  1 854 

Total liabilities 1 619 746 1 504 520 

RESERVES  122 130  114 881 

Total liabilities and reserves 1 741 876 1 619 401 

NOTES
2021..

R’000..
2020..

R’000..

Interest income 15  127 169 . 151 485

Interest expense 15  (102 996) (111 477)

Net interest income  24 173 . 40 008

Credit impairment release/(charge) 16  5 358. (24 609)

Net interest income after impairment on advances   29 531. 15 399

Total non-interest income  16 339. 5 464

Fee and commission income 17  3 565. 3 787

Fair value adjustments on investments 5  7 317. -      

Dividend income  1 783. 1 536

Other operating income  3 674.  141

Total expenses  (36 996) (42 192)

Operating expenses 18  (36 282) (34 619)

Commission expense (714)  (926)

Fair value adjustments on investments 5  - (6 647)

Profit/(loss) before income tax   8 874. (21 329)

Income tax (expense)/credit 19 (951) 5 703

Profit/(loss) for the year 7 923. (15 626)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income

Items that may not be reclassified to profit or loss (674) 7 805

Remeasurements of retirement benefit obligation 13 (936) 1 918

Revaluation of Office Premises 8  - 8 806

Deferred tax 10 262  (2 919)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 7 249 (7 821)

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 

GBS Mutual Bank GBS Mutual Bank



19144th Annual Report 2020–202118 144th Annual Report 2020–2021

RETAINED.. 
EARNINGS.. 

R’000.. 

GENER AL.. 
RESERVE.. 

R’000.. 

REVALUATION.. 
SURPLUS.. 

R’000.. 

STATUTORY.. 
CREDIT RISK.. 

RESERVE.. 
R’000.. 

TOTAL.. 
R’000.. 

Balance at 1 April 2019  1 000  114 582           - 7 120  122 702

Loss for the year  (15 626)          -          -         -    (15 626)

Other comprehensive income for the year        - 1 381  6 424         - 7 805

Transfer to statutory credit risk reserve (416)           -          -  416         - 

Transfer from general reserves  16 042  (16 042)          -          -         - 

Balance at 31 March 2020  1 000 99 921  6 424  7 536 114 881  

Profit for the year  7 923           -         -         - 7 923

Other comprehensive loss for the year        -  (674)         -         -  (674)

Transfer to statutory credit risk reserve (93)           -         -  93          - 

Transfer to general reserves  (7 830) 7 945          (115)          -         - 

Balance at 31 March 2021  1 000 107 192  6 309  7 629 122 130

NOTES

 �  Retained Earnings: the Bank maintained its Retained Earnings at R1 000 000 (2020: R1 000 000) resulting in a 
transfer to general reserves (2020: transfer from general reserves).

 � General Reserve: represents profits which have been formally appropriated by the Board of Directors, as 
required by the Mutual Banks Act.

 � Revaluation Surplus: relates to the revaluation surplus on the Bank's Head Office premises (refer notes 2.1 and 8).
 � Statutory Credit Risk Reserve: separate reserve maintained in terms of regulations to the Mutual Banks Act on 
all advances that have not specifically been provided for.

NOTES
2021.. 

R’000.. 
2020.. 

R’000.. 

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest receipts 15 127 169  151 485  

Interest payments 15 (102 996) (111 477)

Fee and commission receipts 3 565 3 787

Fee and commission payments  (714)  (926)

Dividends received 1 783 1 536

Other income 3 674  141

Payments to employees and suppliers (33 618) (32 366)

Income taxes refunded/(paid)  631  (626)

Cash flows (utilised in) / generated from operating activities  
before changes in operating assets and liabilities  (506) 11 554

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Net increase in advances (19 942) (66 272)

Net increase in other assets  (355)  (596)

Net increase in share and other deposits 113 605 95 178

Net decrease in other liabilities (933) (2 836)

Net decrease in lease liabilities  (632)  (242)

Net cash generated from operating activities 91 237 36 786

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of property and equipment 8  (920) (1 643)

Net (increase)/decrease in investments (185 315) 11 248

Net cash (utilised in)/generated from investing activities (186 235) 9 605

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (94 998) 46 391

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 4 223 554 177 163  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 4 128 556 223 554

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
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1. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE CURRENT 
REPORTING PERIOD 
The financial position and performance of the Bank 
were particularly affected by the following events and 
transactions during the reporting period:

 � A R5.4 million release of the IFRS 9 provisions (refer 
note 16); 

 � A profit of R3.5 million was made on the sales of 
R2030 Government bonds (refer note 5);

 � A R7.3 million write-up in the fair value of 
investments (refer note 5).

The scale and unprecedented nature of the COVID-19 
pandemic dramatically impacted the global macro-
economic environment. The economic disruption 
caused by South Africa’s COVID-19 lockdown was felt by  
a number of our clients and negotiated payment 
holidays, in which a number of mortgage and asset-
based finance loans were restructured, were granted. 
Note 21.4.7 provides further detail on the payment 
holidays granted.

For a detailed discussion about the Bank’s performance 
and financial position, please refer to the Report of the 
Directors on pages 6 to 15.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
GBS Mutual Bank is incorporated in South Africa. The 
address of its registered office and principal place of 
business is 18-20 Hill Street, Makhanda, 6139. 

The financial statements are presented in South African 
Rand, which is the functional and presentation currency 
of the Bank. All amounts are stated in thousands of 
Rand, unless otherwise indicated. 

The principal accounting policies set out below are, in all 
material respects, consistent with those of the prior year.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") 
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. 
It also requires management to exercise judgement in 
the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies 
(refer to note 3).  

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with and comply with IFRS. The financial statements are 

prepared under the historical cost convention, except 
for financial instruments and office premises which are 
accounted for in terms of the stated accounting policies.

NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS ADOPTED
The accounting policies are consistent with those 
reported in the previous year except as required in 
terms of the adoption of the following:

 � Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting (Conceptual Framework): The revised 
Conceptual Framework includes a comprehensive 
set of concepts for financial reporting, replacing 
the previous version of the Conceptual Framework. 
These concepts are used by the IASB as the 
framework for setting IFRS standards. The revision 
did not result in any changes to IFRS standards.

 � Amendment to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial 
statements’ and IAS 8, ‘Accounting policies, 
changes in accounting estimates and errors’ on 
the definition of material. These amendments to 
IAS 1 and IAS 8 and consequential amendments to 
other IFRS used a consistent definition of materiality 
through IFRS and the Conceptual Framework for 
Financial Reporting, clarify the explanation of the 
definition of material, and incorporate some of the 
guidance in IAS 1 about immaterial information. 
The amended definition is: “Information is material 
if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could 
reasonably be expected to influence decisions 
that the primary users of general purpose financial 
statements make on the basis of those financial 
statements, which provide financial information 
about a specific reporting entity.” The adoption of 
this amendment had no impact on the Bank.

2.2  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash 
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash 
held at the South African Reserve Bank, deposits held on 
call with banks and other short-term liquid investments 
with maturity periods of less than 91 days from the date 
of acquisition.

2.3  FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

MEASUREMENT METHODS
(I) AMORTISED COST AND EFFECTIVE INTEREST RATE
The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial 
asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition 
minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the 
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3  FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 

and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, 
adjusted for any loss allowance.   

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments or receipts through the 
expected life of the financial asset or financial liability 
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset (i.e. its 
amortised cost before any impairment allowance) or to 
the amortised cost of a financial liability. The calculation 
does not consider expected credit losses and includes 
transaction costs, premiums or discounts and fees paid 
or received that are integral to the effective interest 
rate, such as origination fees. 

When the Bank revises the estimates of future cash flows, 
the carrying amount of the respective financial assets 
or financial liabilities are adjusted to reflect the new 
estimate discounted using the original effective interest 
rate. Any changes are recognised in profit or loss.
 
(II) INTEREST INCOME
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective 
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of financial 
assets, except for financial assets that have subsequently 
become credit-impaired (or ‘stage 3’), for which 
interest revenue is calculated by applying the effective 
interest rate to their net carrying amount (i.e. net of the 
expected credit loss provision). 

(III) INITIAL RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
when the entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and 
sales of financial assets are recognised on settlement-
date, the date on which the Bank commits to purchase 
or sell the asset. 

At initial recognition, the Bank measures a financial 
asset or financial liability at its fair value plus or minus, 
in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not 
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs 
that are incremental and directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial 
liability, such as fees and commissions. Transaction costs 
of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair 
value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or 
loss. Immediately after initial recognition, an expected 

credit loss allowance (ECL) is recognised for financial 
assets measured at amortised cost and those measured 
at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

2.3.1 FINANCIAL ASSETS 

(I) CLASSIFICATION AND SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT
In accordance with IFRS 9, the Bank classifies its financial 
assets in the following measurement categories: 

 � Amortised cost;
 � Fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVOCI); or 

 � Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial 
assets depends on: 

 � the Bank’s business model for managing the asset; 
and

 � the cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Business model: the business model reflects how the 
Bank manages the assets in order to generate cash 
flows. That is, whether the Bank’s objective is solely to 
collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or 
is to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash 
flows arising from the sale of assets. Factors considered 
by the Bank in determining the business model for a 
group of assets include past experience on how the 
cash flows for these assets were collected, how the 
asset’s performance is evaluated and reported to key 
management personnel, how risks are assessed and 
managed and how managers are compensated. For 
example, the Bank’s business model for the mortgage 
loan book is to hold to collect contractual cash flows.

Solely Payments of Principal and Interest (SPPI): Where 
the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual 
cash flows or to collect contractual cash flows and sell, 
the Bank assesses whether the financial instruments’ 
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and 
interest (the ‘SPPI test’). In making this assessment, the 
Bank considers whether the contractual cash flows are 
consistent with a basic lending arrangement i.e. interest 
includes only consideration for the time value of money, 
credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin 
that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement. 

Based on these factors, the Bank classifies its financial 
assets into one of the following three measurement 
categories:

 � Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection 
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows 
represent solely payments of principal and interest
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (CONTINUED)

2.3.1 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

       (‘SPPI’), and that are not designated at FVPL, are 
measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount of 
these assets is adjusted by any expected credit loss 
allowance recognised and measured as described 
in note 21.4.2. Interest income from these financial 
assets is included in ‘Interest income’ using the 
effective interest rate method.
 � Fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVOCI): Financial assets that are held 
for collection of contractual cash flows and 
for selling the assets, where the assets’ cash 
flows represent solely payments of principal 
and interest, and that are not designated at 
FVPL, are measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI). Movements 
in the carrying amount are taken through 
OCI, except for the recognition of impairment 
reversals or losses, interest income and foreign 
exchange gains and losses on the instrument’s 
amortised cost which are recognised in  
profit or loss. When the financial asset is 
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from 
equity to profit or loss and recognised in ‘Fair 
value adjustments on investments’. Interest 
income from these financial assets is included  
in ‘Interest income’ using the effective interest 
rate method.

 � Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL): Assets  
that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost  
or FVOCI are measured at fair value through 
profit or loss. A gain or loss on a financial asset 
that is subsequently measured at fair value 
through profit or loss is recognised in profit or  
loss and presented in the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income within  
'Fair value adjustments on investments' in the 
period in which it arises. Interest income from 
these financial assets is included in ‘Interest 
income’ using the effective interest rate  
method.

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the 
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective; that is, 
instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation 
to pay cash and that evidence a residual interest in the 
issuer’s net assets. Examples of equity instruments include 
basic ordinary shares.

The Bank subsequently measures all equity investments 
at fair value through profit or loss, except where the 
Bank’s management has elected, at initial recognition, 
to irrevocably designate an equity investment at fair 
value through other comprehensive income. The Bank’s 
policy is to designate equity investments as FVOCI when 
those investments are held for purposes other than to 
generate investment returns. When this election is used, 
fair value gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are 
not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, including on 
disposal. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment 
losses) are not reported separately from other changes 
in fair value. Dividends, when representing a return on 
such investments, continue to be recognised in profit or 
loss as dividend income when the Bank’s right to receive 
payments is established.

Gains and losses on equity investments at FVPL are 
included in the ‘Fair value adjustments on investments’ 
line in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. 

(II) IMPAIRMENT
The Bank assesses on a forward-looking basis the 
expected credit losses (‘ECL’) associated with its debt 
instrument assets carried at amortised cost and FVOCI 
and with the exposure arising from loan commitments 
and financial guarantee contracts. The Bank recognises 
a loss allowance for such expected credit losses at each 
reporting date.

The measurement of ECL reflects:
 � An unbiased and probability-weighted amount 
that is determined by evaluating a range of 
possible outcomes;

 � The time value of money; and
 � Reasonable and supportable information that 
is available without undue cost or effort at 
the reporting date about past events, current 
conditions and forecasts of future economic 
conditions.

Note 21.4.2 provides more detail of how the expected 
credit loss allowance is measured.

(III) MODIFICATION OF LOANS
The Bank occasionally renegotiates or otherwise modifies 
the contractual cash flows of loans to customers. When 
this happens, the Bank assesses whether or not the new 
terms are substantially different to the original terms. 
The Bank does this by considering, among others, the 
following factors:

 � If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the 
modification merely reduces the contractual cash
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (CONTINUED)

2.3.1 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

         flows to amounts the borrower is expected to be 
able to pay.

 � Whether any substantial new terms are introduced 
that substantially affects the risk profile of the loan.

 � Significant extension of the loan term when the 
borrower is not in financial difficulty. 

 � Significant change in the interest rate. 
 � Insertion of collateral, other security or credit 
enhancements that significantly affect the credit 
risk associated with the loan.

If the terms are substantially different, the Bank 
derecognises the original financial asset and 
recognises a ‘new’ asset at fair value and recalculates 
a new effective interest rate for the asset. The date of 
renegotiation is consequently considered to be the date 
of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes, 
including for the purpose of determining whether a 
significant increase in credit risk has occurred. However, 
the Bank also assesses whether the new financial asset 
recognised is deemed to be credit-impaired at initial 
recognition, especially in circumstances where the 
renegotiation was driven by the debtor being unable 
to make the originally agreed payments. Differences in 
the carrying amount are also recognised in profit or loss 
as a gain or loss on derecognition.

If the terms are not substantially different, the 
renegotiation or modification does not result in 
derecognition, and the Bank recalculates the gross 
carrying amount based on the revised cash flows of 
the financial asset and recognises a modification gain 
or loss in profit or loss. The new gross carrying amount 
is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows 
at the original effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted 
effective interest rate for purchased or originated 
credit-impaired financial assets).

(IV) DERECOGNITION OTHER THAN A MODIFICATION 
Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognised 
when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows 
from the assets have expired, or when they have been 
transferred and either (i) the Bank transfers substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership, or (ii) the Bank 
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership and the Bank has not retained 
control.     

2.3.2  FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

(I) CLASSIFICATION AND SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT 
The Bank recognises a financial liability once it becomes a 
party to the contractual terms of the financial instrument. 
Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, 
being their issue proceeds, minus transaction costs. They 
are subsequently stated at amortised cost and interest 
is recognised over the period of the borrowing using the 
effective interest rate method.

No financial liabilities have been classified as financial 
liabilities through profit or loss.     

(II) DERECOGNITION
Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are 
extinguished (i.e. when the obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires).

2.4   ADVANCES AND LOANS

Advances and loans are financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments and include purchased 
advances. Advances and loans are initially recognised 
at fair value when the Bank becomes party to the 
contractual terms of the instruments. Advances and 
loans are accounted for at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method and derecognised in 
accordance with note 2.3 above. 

Transaction costs and origination fees received are 
capitalised to the carrying amount of the advance and 
expensed or taken to interest income over the estimated 
duration of the advance or loan.

Advances and loans include rental agreements and 
instalment sale agreements where the Bank is acting 
as the lessor. The substance of these transactions is that 
they are financing arrangements by their nature.

Impairment testing of advances is described in note 
21.4.

In addition to impairment provisions, a statutory non-
distributable credit risk reserve is maintained in terms of 
the regulations to the Mutual Banks Act on all advances 
that have not specifically been provided for.

2.5  PROPERTIES IN POSSESSION

Properties in possession comprise the amounts 
outstanding on advances where mortgagors have 
defaulted and the properties securing the advances 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (CONTINUED)

2.5  PROPERTIES IN POSSESSION (CONTINUED)

have been bought in by the Bank. Until resale, all 
expenditure and income is allocated to the value of the 
relevant property in possession. An impairment provision 
is made where the amount of the property value, or a 
portion thereof, is considered to be not recoverable.

2.6  PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Office premises comprise banking halls and offices. 
Office premises are measured using the revaluation 
model whereby office premises are carried at a 
revalued amount, being the fair value at the date of 
the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated 
depreciation and any subsequent accumulated 
impairment losses. 

Increases in the carrying amounts arising on revaluation 
of office premises are recognised, net of tax, in other 
comprehensive income and the revaluation surplus 
in equity. To the extent that the increase reverses a 
decrease previously recognised in profit or loss, the 
increase is first recognised in profit or loss. Decreases 
that reverse previous increases of the same asset are 
first recognised in other comprehensive income to 
the extent of the remaining surplus attributable to 
the asset; all other decreases are charged to profit or 
loss. Each year, the difference between depreciation 
based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset 
charged to profit or loss and depreciation based on the 
asset’s original cost, net of tax, is reallocated from the 
revaluation surplus to retained earnings.

Property and equipment excluding office premises is 
stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost 
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying 
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably.

Computer software licences are acquired and are 
capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire 
and bring to use the specific software.

Costs associated with developing and maintaining 
computer software programmes are recognised as an 
expense as incurred. Costs that are directly associated 
with the creation of identifiable and unique systems 
controlled by the Bank, and that will generate economic 
benefits beyond 1 year, are recognised as assets. Other 
development expenditures are recognised as an 
expense as incurred.

All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income during the financial period in which they are 
incurred.

Land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an 
indefinite useful life. All assets are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis to write down the cost / carrying 
amount of assets to their residual values over their 
estimated lives as follows:

Office premises (excluding land)                          4%
Motor vehicles         20%  
Furniture and equipment       17%
Solar equipment      10%
Computer equipment      33%
Computer software      20%
Banking software           10%  
Software licences                        33%  

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, 
and adjusted if appropriate, at each statement of 
financial position date.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These 
are included in profit or loss. When revalued assets 
are sold, it is the Bank’s policy to transfer any amounts 
included in other reserves in respect of those assets to 
retained earnings.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately 
to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount 
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

2.7  IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Assets that are subject to amortisation/depreciation 
are reviewed for impairment at each statement of 
financial position date or whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the 
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher 
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell, and value in use.
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2.8  SHARES, OTHER DEPOSITS AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, 
being their issue proceeds, minus transaction costs. They 
are subsequently stated at amortised cost and interest 
is recognised over the period of the borrowing using the 
effective interest rate method.

No financial liabilities have been classified as financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Financial 
liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified 
in the contract is discharged or cancelled or has expired.

2.9  PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of 
the obligation can be made. Provisions are measured 
at the present value of management's best estimate of 
the expenditure required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period.

2.10  CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The tax expense for the period comprises current 
and deferred income tax. Tax is recognised in profit 
for the year, except to the extent that it relates to 
items recognised directly in other comprehensive 
income. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis 
of the tax laws enacted at the statement of financial 
position date. The Bank periodically evaluates positions 
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which 
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It 
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis 
of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability 
method, on temporary differences arising between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income 
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
statement of financial position date and are expected 

to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is 
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will 
be available against which the temporary differences 
can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there 
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances 
relate to the same taxation authority.

2.11  RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

(I) HEALTHCARE BENEFITS 
It is the policy of the Bank to provide post-retirement 
healthcare benefits to certain employees employed by the 
Bank prior to 2002 in the form of medical aid contributions. 
The entitlement to post-retirement healthcare benefits 
is based on the employee remaining in service up to 
retirement age. Valuations of these obligations are carried 
out by independent actuaries. The costs are assessed 
using the projected unit credit method. 

Under this method the cost of providing post-retirement 
benefits is charged to the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income to spread the regular cost 
over the service lives of employees in accordance with 
the advice of actuaries. The post-retirement healthcare 
obligation is measured at the present value of estimated 
future cash outflows. Remeasurement gains and losses are 
immediately charged or credited to other comprehensive 
income in the year in which they arise.

(II) PENSION  BENEFITS
The Bank has an obligation to pay fixed pensions to 
certain retired employees. These payments are funded 
internally, and not through a formal pension fund. The 
post-retirement pension liability was measured at the 
present value of estimated future cash outflows based 
on the fixed pensions and the life expectancy of the 
pensioners. The valuation of the liability was performed 
internally based on actuarial life expectancy tables.

Remeasurement gains and losses are charged or 
credited to other comprehensive income in the year in 
which they arise.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (CONTINUED)

2.11  RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

(III) PROVIDENT FUND  BENEFITS
In accordance with the Bank’s terms of employment, all 
current employees are required to be members of the 
GBS Mutual Bank Provident Fund. This fund is a defined 
contribution plan. The Bank’s contributions to this plan 
are charged to the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income in the year to which they relate.

2.12  REVENUE RECOGNITION

(I) INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSE
Interest income and expense are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income for all instruments measured at amortised cost 
and at fair value through profit or loss using the effective 
interest rate method. Interest income and expense are 
recognised separately from other fair value movements.

The effective interest rate method is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset 
or a financial liability and of allocating the interest 
income or interest expense over the relevant period. 
The original effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
through the expected life of the financial instrument or, 
when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset or financial liability. 

When calculating the original effective interest rate, the 
Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual 
terms of the financial instrument (for example, 
prepayment options) but does not consider future 
credit losses. The calculation includes all fees paid or 
received between parties to the contract that are an 
integral part of the effective interest rate.

(II) FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME
Fees and commissions, net of value added tax, are 
recognised on an accrual basis. When fees are received 
in advance, the income is deferred and recognised 
over the period to which the fees relate.

(III) DIVIDEND INCOME
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive 
payment is established on the ex-dividend date for 
equity instruments and is included in “Dividend income”.

(IV) OTHER INCOME 
Fair value gains and losses on financial instruments at fair 
value through profit or loss, are included in “Fair value 
adjustments on investments”. These fair value gains 
or losses are determined after deducting the interest 
component, which is recognised separately in interest 
income and expense. Gains or losses on derecognition 
of any financial assets or financial liabilities are included 
under “Fair value adjustments on investments”.

2.13  LEASES

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a 
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased 
asset is available for use by the Bank.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially 
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities 
include the net present value of fixed monthly lease 
payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less 
any lease incentives receivable. 

The lease payments are discounted using the interest 
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily 
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the 
Bank, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, 
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to 
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of 
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic 
environment with similar terms, security and conditions. 

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Bank:
 � where possible, uses recent third-party financing 
received by the individual lessee as a starting 
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing 
conditions since third party financing was 
received; and

 � makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term 
and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and 
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss 
over the lease period to produce a constant periodic 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability 
for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the 
following:

 � the amount of the initial measurement of lease 
liability;

 � any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date less any lease incentives 
received;

The COVID-19 outbreak is expected to continue to 
affect the South African economy and our industry. 
The economic disruption caused by South Africa’s 
COVID-19 lockdown together with the uncertainty of 
economic outlook is expected to continue to have 
a material adverse effect on our clients’ ability to 
meet their repayment obligations. As a result of this 
continued uncertainty, management have reviewed 
the assumptions made in the determination of the ECL. 
The following refinements to the assumptions made in 
March 2020 have been made:

 � A significant increase in credit risk and credit 
impaired assets: Once a payment holiday period 
has lapsed, it has been assumed that a significant 
increase in credit risk remains until a period of 12 
months has lapsed without any arrears.

 � Weightings of the base, up turn and down turn 
scenarios: The weightings applied to the base, up 
turn and down turn scenarios were changed from 
10%, 10% and 80% respectively to 65%, 10% and 
25% respectively to reflect the expected recovery 
in the economy.

Other key management assumptions are made and 
disclosed in the following areas:

Property and equipment Notes 2.6 & 8

Retirement benefit obligations Notes 2.11 & 13 

Recoverability of deferred income 
tax assets

Note 2.10 
 

Impairment of non-financial assets  Note 2.7 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (CONTINUED)

2.13  LEASES (CONTINUED)

 � any initial direct costs; and
 � restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the 
shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a 
straight-line basis. Payments associated with short-term 
leases of equipment and all leases of low-value assets 
are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in 
profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease 
term of 12 months or less.

STANDARDS AND AMENDMENTS ISSUED NOT YET EFFECTIVE
There are no standards, interpretations or amendments 
that are not yet effective and that would be expected 
to have a material impact on the Bank in the current 
or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future 
transactions.

3. KEY MANAGEMENT ASSUMPTIONS
In preparing the financial statements, estimates and 
assumptions are made that could affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities within current and 
future financial years. Estimates and judgements are 
continually evaluated and are based on factors such 
as historical experience and current best estimates of 
future events. 

The determination of the Expected Credit Losses (ECL) 
(refer notes 2.3.1, 16 and 21.4.2) on loans and advances 
represent the most material assumptions, estimates 
and judgements applied in preparing these financial 
statements. 
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2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Bank balances 15 712 17 717

Short-term deposits 77 578 99 563

South African Reserve Bank deposit 34 242 31 558

Treasury bills         - 73 510

Cash on hand 1 024 1 206

128 556 223 554

The bank balances and short-term deposits were held with the following financial institutions at year end, which 
comply with the Bank's internal risk management policies of only investing with sound, reputable institutions: First 
National Bank, Investec Bank, Grindrod Bank, Rand Merchant Bank and Sasfin Bank.

The Bank has an overdraft facility at First National Bank Limited of R10 000 000 (2020: R10 000 000). This facility is 
reviewed annually. A notice deposit of R10 000 000 with Rand Merchant Bank has been ceded to FirstRand Bank 
Limited as security for this facility.

Cash and cash equivalents are classified as financial instruments held at amortised cost.

The fixed deposits were held with Sasfin Bank, Grindrod Bank and Rand Merchant Bank (2020: Sasfin Bank and Rand 
Merchant Bank). These financial institutions comply with the Bank's risk management policies of investing with sound, 
reputable entities. 

R129 522 000 (2020: R Nil) of RSA Government bonds were held in R186 bonds and R34 774 000 (2020: R Nil) were held 
in R2030 bonds. A profit of R3 545 000 (2020: R NIL) (included in Other operating income on the face of the Statement 
of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income) was made on the sale of R2030 bonds.

5 . INVESTMENTS  

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

(I)  INVESTMENTS CLASSIFIED AS FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS HELD AT AMORTISED COST

Fixed deposits 51 448 42 613

RSA Government bonds 164 296       - 

215 744 42 613

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

(II)  INVESTMENTS CLASSIFIED AS FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Opening balance 111 706 124 170

Additions 45 643 28 007

Withdrawals (36 000) (37 000)

Fair value adjustment through profit or loss 7 317 (6 647)

Interest reinvested 2 439 3 104

Dividends reinvested  102 72 

Closing balance 131 207 111 706

(III) INVESTMENT IN EQUITY INSTRUMENT

Opening and closing balance after impairment       -     -      

Total investments 346 951 154 319

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss comprise an investment in an endowment policy with 
Momentum Wealth; investments in unit trust portfolios with Allan Gray Investment Services and Momentum Collective 
Investments; Nedgroup Investments; and preference shares in ABSA Bank Limited, FirstRand Limited, Investec Bank 
Limited, Nedbank Limited, and Standard Bank Group Limited (2020: Preference shares were only held in Investec 
Bank Limited). 

The endowment policy is an undated instrument with a loan facility. The investments held with Allan Gray Investment 
Services and Momentum Collective Investments, with a carrying amount of R7 550 000 (2020: R5 821 000), are held 
to partially cover the post-retirement medical obligations in note 13. The Nedgroup Investment is in the Nedgroup 
Investments Corporate Money Market and Core Income Funds. The funds are reinvested mainly in the large 
commercial Banks in South Africa. The investments in preference shares consist of non-cumulative non-redeemable 
preference shares in:

A  The % of prime is the percentage of the South African prime rate for the period that the dividend relates to.

The Bank has an equity investment which consists of 8.7% (2020: 8.7%) interest in Cape Capital Investment and 
Finance Company Ltd (''Cape Capital''), incorporated in South Africa. The investment in Cape Capital of R665 770 
has been fully impaired in prior financial years, based on the Directors’ valuation.

DIVIDEND
(% OF PRIME  A)

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

ABSA Bank Limited 70.0% 8 375      - 

FirstRand Limited 75.6% 2 228      - 

Investec Bank Limited 83.3% 11 866 8 600

Nedbank Limited 83.3% 4 674      - 

Standard Bank Group Limited 77.0% 1 954      - 

29 097 8 600

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)
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4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)

GBS Mutual Bank

5 . INVESTMENTS  (CONTINUED)
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2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Mortgages 802 777 782 993

General  11 178  10 576

Instalment sales and rentals 462 104 463 341

1 276 059 1 256 910

Impairment provisions (Note 16)  (31 081) (37 232)

1 244 978 1 219 678

Advances and loans are classified as financial instruments held at amortised cost.

Commitment for the aggregate amount of advances and re-advances granted  
but not yet paid out:

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Instalment sales and rentals 30 193 43 319

Mortgages 105 846 44 351

136 039 87 670

The commitment for advances granted but not yet paid out will be funded out of cash and cash equivalents as 
well as deposits classified as investments in note 5.

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Gross amounts due under instalment sale and rental agreements 535 238 545 954

Less: Unearned finance income (73 134) (82 613)

462 104 463 341

Refer to note 21 for further disclosures regarding credit quality and collateral held.

7.  OTHER ASSETS

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

South African Revenue Services - VAT 270         - 

Sundry debtors 809 724

 1 079 724

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)

OFFICE
PREMISES

R’000

SOL AR
EQUIPMENT

R’000

 
FURNITURE

EQUIPMENT &  
MOTOR VEHICLES

R’000

COMPUTER
EQUIPMENT

& SOFT WARE
R’000

TOTAL
R’000

YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

Opening carrying amount 8 878 250   312  2 867  12 307

Additions              - 58  96 766 920

Depreciation  (148) (31)  (97) (973)  (1 249)

Closing carrying amount 8 730 277  311  2 660  11 978 

AT 31 MARCH 2021

Cost / revalued amount 8 878 308   788   6 328   16 302

Accumulated depreciation  (148) (31)  (477)  (3 668)  (4 324)

Closing carrying amount 8 730 277  311  2 660  11 978 

YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

Opening carrying amount  72               -  296 2 708 3 076

Revaluation surplus 8 806               -                -            - 8 806

Additions             - 250   106 1 287 1 643

Depreciation             -               - (90)  (1 128) (1 218)

Closing carrying amount 8 878 250  312 2 867 12 307

GBS Mutual Bank

8. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

AT 31 MARCH 2020

Cost / revalued amount 8 878 250    760  6 128  16 016  

Accumulated depreciation            -              - (448) (3 261) (3 709)

Closing carrying amount 8 878 250   312  2 867  12 307  

The most recent independent valuation of the Bank's office premises was performed by valuers to determine the fair 
value of the land and buildings as at 31 March 2020. A fair value of R8 878 000 was established.

The Bank obtains independent valuations for its office premises every 3 to 5 years. At the end of the reporting period, the 
Directors update their assessment of the fair value of office premises, taking into account the most recent independent 
valuations. The Directors determine the value within a range of fair value estimates. 

Level 3 fair values of office premises have been derived by using the return on investment approach. Level 3 fair values 
are defined as inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs).

The fair value was established using an annualised rental income and an expected fair return on investment. The market 
rental income was established for comparable land and buildings in close proximity to the office premises and was 
adjusted for differences in key attributes such as property size. The return on investment was determined based on 
current market and economic conditions and a return on investment of 10% was used.

6. ADVANCES AND LOANS
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2021
R’000

2020
R’000

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

– Office premises 2 281 1 446

LEASE LIABILITIES   

– Current 635 355

– Non-current 1 723 1 167

2 358 1 522

Within 1 year 795 464 

1 to 5 years 1 917  1 314 

2 712 1 778

Depreciation charge 633 318

Interest expense 176 96

Expenses relating to short-term leases 36 166

 845 580

8. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
 
The most significant inputs into this valuation approach are price per square metre and the return on investment. A 
10% change in the value of either of these inputs results in a corresponding R888 000 change in the most recent fair 
value valuation. 

A portion of the office premises, being Erf 3782 Makana, is currently not used in its highest and best use as part of the 
premises is used for storage and the remainder used as a car park for staff and clients.

The historical cost and carrying amount of the office premises at 31 March 2021 was R72 000.

9. LEASES
 
(I)  DESCRIPTION OF LEASING ACTIVITIES
As a lessee, the Bank leases various Banking halls and offices. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 
3 to 5 years but may have extension options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide 
range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants.

(II) AMOUNTS RECOGNISED IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
The statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to leases:

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the financial year were R1 468 000 (2020: R1 764 000).

Lease liability maturity analysis – contractual undiscounted cash flows:

(III) AMOUNTS RECOGNISED IN THE STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

The total cash outflow for leases in the year end 31 March 2021 was 
R746 000 (2020: R506 000)

10. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSET 
 
Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using the enacted 
corporate tax rate of 28% (2020: 28%).

The movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

Deferred income tax is attributable to the following items:

 B     – Other comprehensive income

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)

2021
R’000

2020 
R’000 

At beginning of year  6 658   1 601

(Charged)/credited to the profit or loss component of the statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income (note 19) (867)  7 976

Credited/(charged) directly to other comprehensive income 262   (2 919)

At end of year  6 053  6 658

2020
R’000

(CHARGED)/  
CREDITED TO  

PROFIT
R’000

CREDITED  
 TO OCI  B

R’000
2021

R’000

Provisions against advances  9 939 (1 905)       -  8 034 

Leave pay accrual 451  12        - 463 

Deferred income 868  (39)       - 829 

Retirement benefit obligations  3 061  219  262       3 542 

Other long-term employee benefits 159  (11)       - 148 

Other provisions  1 053  169       -  1 222 

Right-of-use assets 21  1       - 22 

S18A donations carried forward 74          -       - 74 

Deferred capital gains tax 712  (712)       -  - 

Assessed loss recognised  - 5 164      -  5 164 

Deferred income tax asset  16 338 2 898  262   19 498

Revaluation surplus (2 382)         -       -  (2 382)

Accelerated depreciation  (285)  (126)       - (411)

Deferred capital gains tax     -  (365)       - (365)

Rental deals (7 013) (3 274)       -  (10 287)

Deferred income tax liability (9 680) (3 765)      -  (13 445)

Net deferred income tax asset  6 658  (867)  262   6 053

GBS Mutual Bank
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2021
R’000

2020
R’000

SHARE DEPOSITS

Indefinite period shares 59 711 75 173 

Subscription shares 65 256 66 435 

Fixed period shares 125 312 123 390 

250 279 264 998 

OTHER DEPOSITS

Fixed and call deposits  1 308 784  1 187 652 

Savings and transmission deposits 34 939 27 747 

 1 343 723  1 215 399 

 2 859  4 213 

TERM INTEREST METHOD

Indefinite period shares
Indefinite, 

minimum of 15 
months

Variable

Subscription shares 36 months Variable

Fixed period shares 60 months Fixed

Fixed and call deposits Ranges from 1 to 
60 months

Fixed and 
variable 

respectively

Savings and transmission deposits Demand Variable

Tax free savings
Indefinite, 

minimum of 7 
days

Variable

12. OTHER LIABILITIES

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Sundry creditors  179  223

Accruals and other liabilities 5 517 5 448

South African Revenue Services – VAT                         -  1 046 

Deferred income  2 962  3 101 

 8 658  9 818 

Total indefinite period paid-up shares under notice of redemption

  Details of the various deposits offered are as follows:

2021   
R’000   

2020   
R’000   

The Bank’s retirement obligations are summarised as follows:

Post-retirement healthcare obligation 12 088 10 370

Pension liability  559  559

12 647 10 929

2021 2020    

(I) POST-RETIREMENT HEALTHCARE OBLIGATION

The normal retirement age remains unchanged at 63 years. The other main actuarial 
assumptions used in the calculation of the healthcare obligation were:

– Discount rate 11.6% 12.9%

– Medical cost inflation 8.3% 8.5%

– Net discount rate 3.1% 4.1%

2021   
R’000   

2020   
R’000   

The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year is as follows:     

At beginning of year  10 370   11 571

Current service cost 211 243

Interest cost  1 291  1 141

Remeasurement loss / (gain) 936  (1 918)

Employer benefit payments (720) (667)

At end of year  12 088  10 370

Expected contributions to the retirement benefit obligations for the year ended  
31 March 2022 are anticipated to be R839 000.

Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income:

– Interest cost  1 291  1 141

– Current service cost 211 243

 1 502  1 384

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)
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13. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)

GBS Mutual Bank

11. SHARE AND OTHER DEPOSITS
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2021
R’000

2020
R’000

The remeasurement loss/(gain) recognised in other comprehensive income is as follows:

Loss/(gain) due to changes in financial assumptions  1 264   (2 133)

Experience (gains)/losses for the year (328) 19

Loss due to demographic adjustments         -  196

936   (1 918)

2021 2020

Post-retirement mortality tables: PA90-2 (Retired members) and SA 85-90 (Lite)  
(In-service employees):

– Average number of members:

In-service employees  9  11

Retired members  18  18

 27  29

– Average age of members:

In-service employees  55  56

Retired members  76  78

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

The Bank’s retirement obligations are summarised as follows:

Active members  4 234  4 329

Pensioners  7 854 6 041

 12 088 10 370

The weighted average duration of the benefit obligation is 11.2 years (2020: 10.8 years).

Included in investments held at fair value (note 5) is an investment with a carrying amount of R7 550 000  
(2020: R5 821 000) which the Directors of the Bank have designated to fund the post-retirement medical aid liability. 
This is not a specific plan asset as defined and has thus been disclosed separately. The movement on the investment 
account has been included in “fair value adjustments on investments”, “interest income” and “dividend income” in 
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)

GBS Mutual Bank

The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the weighted principal assumptions are as follows:

 INCREA SE IN 
A SSUMPTION 

AND INCREA SE / 
 (DECREA SE) IN 

OBLIGATION
R'000 

DECREA SE IN 
A SSUMPTION 

AND DECREA SE / 
 (INCREA SE) IN 

OBLIGATION
R'000

1% change in health cost inflation  1 316  1 103

1% change in discount rate  (1 112)  (1 321)

1 year change in retirement age (395) (378)

1 year change in average age (410) (413)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)

GBS Mutual Bank

When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions, the same 
method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at the 
end of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the liability recognised within the statement 
of financial position.

RISKS INVOLVED IN MAINTAINING THE POST-EMPLOYMENT HEALTHCARE OBLIGATION
The risks faced by the Bank as a result of the post-employment healthcare obligation can be summarised as follows:

 � CPI and Health care cost inflation: The risk that CPI and therefore future healthcare cost inflation is higher than 
expected will lead to higher liabilities.

 � Longevity: The employer's subsidy covers the post-employment medical scheme contributions in retirement 
until the main pensioner's death. The risk that pensioners live longer than expected and thus their healthcare 
benefit is payable for longer than expected.

 � Cash flow risk: The risk to the employer that, due to unforeseen circumstances, funds may not be available at 
the time that they are required.

 � Changes in bond yields: A decrease in the bond yields used to determine the discount rate will increase the 
employer's reported post-employment health care liability. High volatility in the bond yields used to determine 
the discount rate may lead to volatile statement of financial position and statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income disclosures.

 � Future changes in legislation: The Government’s stated intention to implement a National Health Insurance 
system in the near future may lead to a requirement to provide some level of compensation to eligible members 
or to fund additional amounts into the system. Changes in tax legislation affecting the subsidy may also pose 
a risk to both the employer and the recipients of the subsidy.

All risks are managed through the Bank’s subsidy policy and are monitored through annual valuations of the 
liability.

13. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)13. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)
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2021
R’000

2020
R’000

At beginning and end of year  559  559

14. OTHER LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
2021

R’000
2020

R’000

SERVICE AWARDS

At beginning of year  1 854  1 511

Additional provision charged to statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income 955 348

Amount utilised against provision (728) (5)

At end of year  2 081  1 854

  13. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)

The main assumptions used to calculate the Bank's liability in respect of service awards were a discount rate of 10.4% 
(2020: 9.2%), estimated salary increases of 6.0% (2020: 6.5%) and staff turnover of 0% (2020: 0%).

The benefit relates to long-service awards. Employees are entitled to this benefit provided that:
 � they remain in service up to the date of retirement (normally 63 years of age) or on death of the employee;
 � they have worked for the Bank for a minimum of 15 years (unless specifically agreed otherwise by the Board).

Generally, the award is calculated on 3 months' cost to company (the Board may however approve additional 
amounts in exceptional circumstances).

GBS Mutual Bank

(II) PENSION LIABILITY  
The main assumptions used to calculate the Bank’s liability in respect of unfunded pension obligations were a 
discount rate of 4.9% (2020: 4.9%) and life expectancies based on actuarial life expectancy tables (refer note 2.11). 
There are four former employees and spouses included in this plan, with an average age of 87 years.

There was no movement in the pension liability.

    

(III) GBS MUTUAL BANK PROVIDENT FUND
This plan is a defined contribution plan registered under the Pension Funds Act and is funded through contributions 
made by the Bank. The fund has 42 (2020: 46) members and contributions for the year amounted to R1 906 000 
(2020: R1 689 000).

15. INTEREST 
2021

R’000
2020

R’000

(I) INTEREST INCOME

Mortgages  58 571  78 645

General advances  1 030  1 298

Instalment sales and rentals  47 118  53 827

Investments  20 215  17 424

Other 235 291

 127 169  151 485

(II) INTEREST EXPENSE

Fixed deposits  82 902  88 356

Tax free savings 350 463

Savings deposits 623  1 133

Indefinite period paid-up shares  4 072  6 599

Subscription shares  4 024  5 019

Fixed period shares  10 849  9 811

Interest on lease liabilities 176 96

 102 996  111 477

16. CREDIT IMPAIRMENT RELEASE/(CHARGE)
Provision at beginning of year  (37 232)  (12 957)

Amount utilised 793  334

Release from/(charge to) statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income  5 358  (24 609)

Recovery of amounts previously written off / provided for 23  162

Provision decrease/(increase)  5 335  (24 771)

Provision at end of year  (31 081) (37 232)

ANALYSIS

Provisions against non-performing advances  (10 357)  (29 922)

Provision against performing advances  (20 724)  (7 310)

 (31 081)  (37 232)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)

GBS Mutual Bank
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18. OPERATING EXPENSES
2021

R’000
2020

R’000

Operating expenses totalled R36 282 000 (2020: R34 619 000) and include the following 
items:

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

– audit fees: current year 1 393  1 316 

– audit fees: prior year 116      -  

– fees for other services 71 61 

 1 580  1 377 

Depreciation  1 882  1 536 

Office rental expense 36  166 

Computer expenses   2 647  2 201 

Staff remuneration and related personnel costs  19 804  17 187 

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Executive Directors

– salaries and benefits   3 139  3 429 

Non-Executive Directors

– for services and consulting fees  1 364  1 547 

 4 503  4 976 

17. FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Fee income  3 414  3 609 

Commission income 151 178 

 3 565  3 787 

19.  INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT

SOUTH AFRICAN NORMAL TAXATION 2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Current tax

   – current year       -  (1 910)

   – prior year (84) (363)

Deferred tax

   – current year (867)  7 596

   – prior year        - 380

(951)  5 703

The tax on the Bank’s profit/(loss) differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the basic tax rate as 
follows:

Profit/(loss) before income tax  8 874 (21 329)

Tax calculated thereon at 28% (2020: 28%)  (2 485)  5 972          

Tax effect of:

Prior year (under)/overprovision (84) 17

Income not subject to tax  1 672  429

Expenses not deductible for tax (54) (715)

Tax (charge)/credit (951)  5 703

Estimated tax losses available for set-off against future taxable income amounted to R18.4 million (2020: R nil) and 
at current tax rates will provide tax relief of R5.2 million (2020: R nil).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)

GBS Mutual Bank
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)

GBS Mutual Bank



43144th Annual Report 2020–202142 144th Annual Report 2020–2021

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)
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20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant 
influence over the other party in making financial or operating decisions. The Bank’s related parties are the Bank’s 
Directors and key management personnel. The definition of key management includes the close family members 
of key management personnel. These are limited to their domestic partners.

A number of banking transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. These 
include advances and deposits. Details of related party transactions, outstanding balances at the year end, and 
related expenses and income for the year are as follows:

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

ADVANCES AND LOANS

Advances and loans outstanding at end of year 2 383 2 802

No specific provision for impairment has been recognised in respect of advances and 
loans provided to related parties (2020: R Nil).

DEPOSITS

Deposits at end of year 7 299 8 657

OTHER EXPENSES

Key management compensation

   – Short-term employee and consulting benefits 6 809 5 701

   – Post-employment benefits  674  534

Non-executive Directors' fees

   – for services 1 364 1 547

 8 847 7 782

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)

GBS Mutual Bank

21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

21.1  STRATEGY IN USING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

By its nature, the Bank’s activities are principally related to the use of financial instruments. The Bank accepts deposits 
from customers at both fixed and floating rates and for various periods and seeks to earn above average interest 
rates by investing these funds in high quality assets. The Bank does not trade in derivative financial instruments. The 
Bank's objectives, policies and processes for managing financial risks are consistent with those of the prior year.

21.2  FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION

The carrying amounts less the impairment provisions of all financial assets not carried at fair value, are assumed 
to approximate their fair values. The carrying amounts of all financial liabilities not carried at fair value, 
are assumed to approximate their fair values, other than share and other deposits which have a fair value of  
R1 579 426 000, compared to a carrying amount of R1 594 002 000, due to the fact that certain share and other 
deposits (note 11) are issued at a fixed rate higher than current market rates as they were issued in prior years 
(2020: fair value of R1 506 745 000, compared to a carrying amount of R1 480 397 000).

IFRS 13 requires the disclosure of fair value measurements in accordance with the following fair value measurement 
hierarchy:

 � Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1);
 � Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the assets or liabilities, either 
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2); and

 � Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) 
(level 3).

The following table presents the Bank's assets that are measured at fair value at 31 March 2021: 

LEVEL  1  
R’000

LEVEL  2  
R’000

LEVEL  3  
R’000

(I) FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Investments (note 5) 29 097 102 110 -

The fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are provided by the manager or the administrator 
of the respective funds, and are determined using observable inputs.

The fair value of the preference shares is determined by reference to the quoted bid price, due to the fact that 
these investments are listed equities

The following table presents the Bank's assets and liabilities that are measured at amortised cost at 31 March 2021: 

LEVEL  1  
R’000

LEVEL  2  
R’000

LEVEL  3  
R’000

(II) FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST

Cash and cash equivalents (note 4)  -  128 556  - 

Investments: Fixed deposits (note 5)  -  51 448  - 

Investments: RSA Government bonds (note 5)  164 296  -  - 

Advances and loans (note 6)  -  -  1 276 059 
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21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

21.2  FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION (CONTINUED)

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents closely approximates their carrying amount due to their short-term or 
on-demand repayment terms.

The fair value of fixed deposits is determined by discounting future cash flows at similar market prevailing rates. The 
fair value of the RSA Government Bonds is determined by reference to the quoted bid price. 

The fair value of advances and loans is determined using a valuation technique and significant inputs that are 
not based on observable market data (i.e. unobservable inputs) such as an entity’s own assumptions about what 
market participants would assume in pricing assets and liabilities. This category includes loans and advances to 
customers.

Although the fair value credit movement on loans and advances is not significant year-on-year, it may become 
significant in future. For this reason, together with the fact that the majority of South African counterparties do not 
have actively traded or observable credit spreads, the Bank has classified loans and advances to customers in level 
3 of the fair value hierarchy. In the event that credit spreads are observable for a counterparty, advances and loans 
to customers are classified as level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

No information has come to the Bank's attention that would lead us to conclude that the fair values of advances and 
loans are materially different to the values disclosed on the statement of financial position. All rates on advances 
and loans are variable and were market related at the time of grant.  

LEVEL  1  
R’000

LEVEL  2  
R’000

LEVEL  3  
R’000

(III) NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

Office premises (note 8)          -          - 8 730  

Refer to note 8 for a full description of the valuation method used to arrive at the fair value of office premises.

LEVEL  1  
R’000

LEVEL  2  
R’000

LEVEL  3  
R’000

(IV) LIABILITIES AT AMORTISED COST

Share and other deposits (note 11)          -          - 1 579 426

Other liabilities (note 12)          -  2 818          - 

Share and other deposits are valued at the net present value of estimated future cash flows. The Bank also considers 
liquidity, credit and market risk factors, and adjusts the valuation model as deemed necessary. The fair value of 
other liabilities is assumed to approximate their carrying amount due to their short-term nature.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)
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21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  
(CONTINUED)

21.3  CAPITAL ADEQUACY

The Bank's capital requirement is made up of both first 
tier capital, the reserves and second tier capital, being 
a portion of the fixed period share capital and 50% of 
the revaluation surplus. The amount of fixed period share 
capital qualifying as second tier capital cannot exceed 
50% of first tier capital. The capital adequacy ratio of all 
banks is monitored by the Prudential Authority.

The Bank has a statutory capital requirement, in terms 
of the Mutual Banks Act, which sets a minimum amount 
of capital and reserves to be held. This amount, termed 
the capital adequacy ratio, is set at 10% of risk weighted 
assets. This ratio in effect determines the amount the 
Bank may lend out on advances. The average capital 
adequacy ratio for the year under review was 12.3% 
(2020: 13.4%).

21.4  CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty will be 
unable to pay amounts in full on maturity date. The 
Bank manages the levels of credit risk by placing limits 
on the amount of risk accepted in relation to any one 
counterparty. 

In the management of credit risk, the Bank limits its 
lending to those products in which it has knowledge of 
the market and has the relevant expertise. New product 
approval is a high level management decision. Credit 
risk management is conducted in terms of documented 
policies and procedures which includes credit granting, 
arrears management and management reporting 
systems. 

Credit risk management is consistent with that of 
previous years.

21.4.1  CREDIT RISK MEASUREMENT

LOANS AND ADVANCES
The estimation of credit exposure for risk management 
purposes is complex and requires the use of models, as 
the exposure varies with changes in market conditions, 
expected cash flows and the passage of time. The Bank 
measures credit risk using estimates of Probability of 
Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss Given 
Default (LGD). This is similar to the approach used for 
the purposes of measuring Expected Credit Loss (ECL) 
under IFRS 9. Refer to note 21.4.2 for more details.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)

GBS Mutual Bank

21.4.2  EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MEASUREMENT

IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ model for impairment 
based on changes in credit quality since initial 
recognition as summarised below:

 � A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired 
on initial recognition is classified in ‘Stage 1’ and 
has its credit risk continuously monitored by the 
Bank.

 � If a significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) 
since initial recognition is identified, the financial 
instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not 
yet deemed to be credit-impaired. Refer to 
note 21.4.2.1 for a description of how the Bank 
determines when a significant increase in credit 
risk has occurred.

 � If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the 
financial instrument is then moved to ‘Stage 3’. 
Refer to note 21.4.2.2 for a description of how the 
Bank defines credit-impaired and default.

 �  Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL 
measured at an amount equal to the portion 
of lifetime expected credit losses that result 
from default events possible within the next 12 
months. Instruments in Stages 2 or 3 have their 
ECL measured based on expected credit losses 
on a lifetime basis. Refer to note 21.4.2.3 for a 
description of inputs, assumptions and estimation 
techniques used in measuring the ECL.

 � A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in 
accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should consider 
forward-looking information. Note 21.4.2.4 
includes an explanation of how the Bank has 
incorporated this in its ECL models.

 � Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets are those financial assets that are credit- 
impaired on initial recognition. Their ECL is always 
measured on a lifetime basis (Stage 3).

 � Further explanation is also provided of how the 
Bank determines appropriate groupings when ECL 
is measured on a collective basis (refer to note 
21.4.2.5).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)
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 CHANGE IN CREDIT QUALITY SINCE INITIAL RECOGNITION 

STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE  3 

(Initial recognition) (Significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition) (Credit-impaired assets)

12 month expected credit 
losses Lifetime expected credit loss Lifetime expected credit loss

LIFETIME PD AT INITIAL RECOGNITION INCREASE IN LIFETIME PD AT REPORTING DATE 
WHICH IS CONSIDERED SIGNIFICANT 

A SSET-BA SED FINANCE RENTALS AND INSTALMENT SALES

7.5% (2020: 7.5%) 42.5% (2020: 27.5%)

MORTGAGE LOANS

7.5% (2020: 5%) 42.5% (2020: 30%)

21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

21.4.2  EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MEASUREMENT (CONTINUED)

The following diagram summarises the impairment requirements under IFRS 9 (other than purchased or originated 
credit-impaired financial assets):

The key judgements and assumptions adopted by the Bank in addressing the requirements of the standard are 
discussed below:

21.4.2.1  SIGNIFICANT INCREASE IN CREDIT RISK (SICR)
The Bank considers a financial instrument to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk when one or more 
of the following quantitative, qualitative or backstop criteria have been met: 

(I) QUANTITATIVE CRITERIA
The remaining Lifetime PD at the reporting date has increased, compared to the residual Lifetime PD expected at 
the reporting date when the exposure was first recognised, so that it exceeds the relevant threshold per the table 
below:

(II) QUALITATIVE CRITERIA
If the borrower meets one or more of the following criteria:

 � In short-term forbearance;
 � Direct debit cancellation;
 � Extension to the terms granted; 
 � A payment holiday request relating to a mortgage loan has been received (refer note 3); or
 � On the expiry of a payment holiday, previous arrears within the last 12 months (refer note 3).

The assessment of SICR incorporates forward-looking information (refer to note 21.4.2.4) and is performed on a 
quarterly basis at a portfolio level. The criteria used to identify SICR are monitored and reviewed periodically for 
appropriateness by management.
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21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(CONTINUED)

21.4.2.1  SIGNIFICANT INCREASE IN CREDIT RISK (SICR) 
(CONTINUED) 

(III) BACKSTOP
A backstop is applied and the financial instrument 
considered to have experienced a significant increase 
in credit risk if the borrower is more than 30 days past 
due on its contractual payments.

The Bank has not used the low credit risk exemption for 
any financial instruments in the year ended 31 March 
2021.

Refer to note 21.4.2.4 for a sensitivity analysis of the impact 
on ECL of changing the PDs thresholds.

21.4.2.2  DEFINITION OF DEFAULT AND CREDIT-IMPAIRED 
ASSETS

The Bank defines a financial instrument as in default, 
which is fully aligned with the definition of credit- 
impaired, when it meets one or more of the following 
criteria:

(I) QUANTITATIVE CRITERIA
The borrower is more than 90 days past due on its 
contractual payments.

(II) QUALITATIVE CRITERIA
The borrower meets unlikeliness to pay criteria, which 
indicates the borrower is in significant financial difficulty. 
These are instances where:

 � The borrower is in long-term forbearance;
 � The borrower is deceased;
 � The borrower is insolvent;
 � The borrower is in breach of financial covenant(s);
 � An active market for that financial asset has 

disappeared because of financial difficulties;
 � Concessions have been made by the lender 

relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty 
including receipt of a payment holiday request for 
an asset-based finance loan (refer note 3); or

 � It is becoming probable that the borrower will 
enter bankruptcy.

The criteria above have been applied to all financial 
instruments held by the Bank and are consistent with 
the definition of default used for internal credit risk 
management purposes. The default definition has 
been applied consistently to model the Probability of 
Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss given 
Default (LGD) throughout the Bank’s expected loss 
calculations.

An instrument is considered to no longer be in default 
(i.e. to have cured) when it no longer meets any of the 
default criteria for a consecutive period of six months. 
This period of six months has been determined based on 
an analysis which considers the likelihood of a financial 
instrument returning to default status after cure using 
different possible cure definitions.

21.4.2.3  MEASURING ECL - EXPLANATION OF INPUTS, 
ASSUMPTIONS AND ESTIMATION TECHNIQUES

The Expected Credit Loss (ECL) is measured on either a 
12-month (12M) or Lifetime basis depending on whether 
a significant increase in credit risk has occurred since 
initial recognition or whether an asset is considered 
to be credit-impaired. Expected credit losses are the 
discounted product of the Probability of Default (PD), 
Exposure at Default (EAD), and Loss Given Default (LGD), 
defined as follows:

 � The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower 
defaulting on its financial obligation (as per 
“Definition of default and credit-impaired” 
above), either over the next 12 months (12M PD), 
or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) of the 
obligation.

 � The EAD is the amount the Bank expects to be 
owed at the time of default, during the next 
12 months (12M EAD) or the remaining lifetime 
(Lifetime EAD).

 � The Loss Given Default (LGD) represents the Bank’s 
expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted 
exposure. LGD varies by type of counterparty, 
type and seniority of claim and availability of 
collateral or other credit support. LGD is expressed 
as a percentage loss per unit of exposure at the 
time of default (EAD). LGD is calculated on a 
12-month or lifetime basis, where 12-month LGD 
is the percentage of loss expected to be made 
if the default occurs in the next 12 months and 
Lifetime LGD is the percentage of loss expected to 
be made if the default occurs over the remaining 
expected lifetime of the loan.

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD and EAD 
for each future month and for each individual exposure 
or collective segment. These three components are 
multiplied together and adjusted for the likelihood 
of survival. This effectively calculates an ECL for each 
future month, which is then discounted back to the 
reporting date and summed. The discount rate used in 
the ECL calculation is the original effective interest rate 
or an approximation thereof.

The Lifetime PD is developed by applying a maturity 
profile to the current 12M PD. The maturity profile looks 
at how defaults develop on a portfolio from the point of
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 21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(CONTINUED)

21.4.2.3  MEASURING ECL - EXPLANATION OF INPUTS, 
ASSUMPTIONS AND ESTIMATION TECHNIQUES  
(CONTINUED)

initial recognition throughout the lifetime of the loans. 
The maturity profile is based on historical observed data 
and is assumed to be the same across all assets within 
a portfolio and credit grade band. This is supported by 
historical analysis.

The 12-month and lifetime EADs are determined based 
on the expected payment profile, which varies by 
product type.

 � For amortising products and loans, this is based on 
the contractual repayments owed by the borrower 
over a 12-month or lifetime basis. This will also be 
adjusted for any expected overpayments made 
by a borrower. Early repayment assumptions are 
also incorporated into the calculation.

 � For secured products, this is primarily based on 
collateral type and projected collateral values, 
historical discounts to market/book values due to 
forced sales, time to repossession and recovery 
costs observed.

Forward-looking economic information is also included 
in determining the 12-month and lifetime PD, EAD and 
LGD. These assumptions vary by product type. Refer 

to note 21.4.2.4 for an explanation of forward-looking 
information and its inclusion in ECL calculations.

The assumptions underlying the ECL calculation – 
such as how the maturity profile of the PDs and how 
collateral values change are monitored and reviewed 
periodically by management.

Except for the changes described in note 3, there have 
been no significant changes in estimation techniques 
or significant assumptions made during the reporting 
period.

21.4.2.4  FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION 
INCORPORATED INTO THE ECL MODELS

The assessment of SICR and the calculation of ECL both 
incorporate forward-looking information. 

In addition to the base economic scenario, the Bank 
has also considered other possible scenarios along with 
scenario weightings at 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021. 

As with any economic forecasts, the projections and 
likelihoods of occurrence are subject to a high degree of 
inherent uncertainty and therefore the actual outcomes 
may be significantly different to those projected. The 
Bank considers these forecasts to represent its best 
estimate of the possible outcomes.

21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

21.4.2.4  FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION INCORPORATED INTO THE ECL MODELS (CONTINUED)

(I) ECONOMIC VARIABLE ASSUMPTIONS
The most significant period-end assumptions used for the ECL estimate relate to the PDs as disclosed below (also 
refer note 3):

1 APRIL 2020 AND 31 MARCH 2021
BA SE 

SCENARIO UP-TURN DOWN-TURN

ASSET-BASED FINANCE RENTALS AND INSTALMENT SALES

Stage 1 7.5% 6.8% 9.0%

Stage 2 50.0% 45.0% 60.0%

MORTGAGES

Stage 1 7.5% 6.8% 9.0%

Stage 2 50.0% 45.0% 60.0%

1 APRIL 2019 AND 31 MARCH 2020 BA SE 
SCENARIO UP-TURN DOWN-TURN

ASSET-BASED FINANCE RENTALS AND INSTALMENT SALES

Stage 1 7.5% 6.8% 9.0%

Stage 2 35.0% 31.5% 42.0%

MORTGAGES

Stage 1 5.0% 4.5% 6.0%

Stage 2 35.0% 31.5% 42.0%

The weightings assigned to each economic scenario were as follows:

BA SE 
SCENARIO UP-TURN DOWN-TURN

Whole portfolio: 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 65.0% 10.0% 25.0%

Whole portfolio: 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 10.0% 10.0% 80.0%

. 
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21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

21.4.2.4  FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION INCORPORATED INTO THE ECL MODELS (CONTINUED)

The changes to the down-turn PDs and weightings assigned to each economic scenario in the current financial 
year were as a result of the change in future economic outlook (refer note 3).

Other forward-looking considerations not otherwise incorporated within the above scenarios, such as the impact 
of any regulatory, legislative or political changes, have also been considered, but are not deemed to have a 
material impact and therefore no adjustment has been made to the ECL for such factors. This is reviewed and 
monitored for appropriateness periodically.

(II) SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS
Set out below are the effects on the ECL as at 31 March 2021 that would result from reasonably possible changes 
in these parameters:

TOTAL ECL ALLOWANCE
DIFFERENCE TO WEIGHTED 

ECONOMIC SCENARIO

PERCENTAGE DIFFERENCE 
TO WEIGHTED AVER AGE 

SCENARIO

Weighted economic scenario  31 081                            - 0.0%

Base  30 227  (854) -2.7%

Up-turn  28 235 (2 846) -9.2%

Down-turn  34 439  3 358 10.8%

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)

GBS Mutual Bank

21.4.2.5  GROUPING OF INSTRUMENTS FOR LOSSES MEASURED ON A COLLECTIVE BASIS

For expected credit loss provisions modelled on a collective basis, a grouping of exposures is performed on the 
basis of shared risk characteristics, such that risk exposures within a group are homogeneous. In performing this 
grouping, there must be sufficient information for the group to be statistically credible. Where sufficient information 
is not available internally, the Bank has considered benchmarking internal/external supplementary data to use for 
modelling purposes. 

Credit rating brand and product type are used to determine groupings.

All stage 3 loans are assessed individually.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)
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21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

21.4.3  MAXIMUM EXPOSURE TO CREDIT RISK AND COLLATERAL HELD

The following table contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of financial instruments for which an ECL allowance 
is recognised. The gross carrying amount of the financial assets below also represents the Bank's maximum exposure 
to credit risk on these assets.

ECL STAGING STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 TOTAL

 12-month   
ECL

Lifetime
expected ECL

Lifetime
expected ECL

2021 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

RENTAL AGREEMENTS

Gross carrying amount 312 869   109 741  10 343 432 953  

Loss allowance (2 579)  (12 211) (6 750)  (21 540)

Carrying amount 310 290  97 530  3 593 411 413

Collateral held 51 606  13 141 450 65 197

INSTALMENT SALE AGREEMENTS 

Gross carrying amount 19 106  8 601  1 444 29 151

Loss allowance  (299)  (1 299) (1 089)  (2 687)

Carrying amount 18 807  7 302 355 26 464

Collateral held 4 405  2 098 110 6 613

MORTGAGES

Gross carrying amount 512 150  268 011  22 616 802 777

Loss allowance  (416)  (3 920) (2 518)  (6 854)

Carrying amount 511 734  264 091  20 098 795 923

Collateral held 460 287  246 037  19 841 726 165
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21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

21.4.3 MAXIMUM EXPOSURE TO CREDIT RISK AND COLLATERAL HELD (CONTINUED)

ECL STAGING STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 TOTAL

 12-month   
ECL

Lifetime
expected ECL

Lifetime
expected ECL

2020 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

RENTAL AGREEMENTS

Gross carrying amount 325 974   6 215  101 769 433 958

Loss allowance (2 231)  (2 358) (24 837)  (29 426)

Carrying amount 323 743  3 857  76 932 404 532

Collateral held 51 271  1 166  16 323 68 760

INSTALMENT SALE AGREEMENTS 

Gross carrying amount 20 437  1 026  7 920 29 383

Loss allowance  (241) (105) (3 765)  (4 111)

Carrying amount 20 196 921  4 155 25 272

Collateral held 3 951 177  1 410 5 538

MORTGAGES

Gross carrying amount 506 408  256 532  20 053 782 993

Loss allowance  (175)  (2 200) (1 320)  (3 695)

Carrying amount 506 233  254 332  18 733 779 298

Collateral held 464 548  234 553  17 999 717 100

The Bank analyses its exposure to credit risk of financial instruments for which an ECL is not recognised based 
on past due and impaired advances, less collateral held or other credit enhancements. Past due and impaired 
advances are defined as those advances that are in arrears, or that have been specifically provided for. 

In cases where an advance is not individually assessed as impaired, the collateral value is determined as follows:
 � Mortgages: the original valuation of the property depreciated over 10 years and a haircut value of 40% for 

commercial and 35% for residential mortgages is applied.
 � Instalment sales and rentals: the original cost of the asset is depreciated by 30% in each of the first two 

months and thereafter on a reducing balance over the remaining tax life. A haircut value of 40% is applied. 
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21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

21.4.3 MAXIMUM EXPOSURE TO CREDIT RISK AND COLLATERAL HELD (CONTINUED)

The following table calculates the Bank's exposure to credit risk in relation to general advances:

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Gross 11 178 10 576

Performing advances 11 178 10 576

Estimated value of collateral held (11 178) (10 576)

Estimated exposure to credit risk  -    -   

In the tables above, if the collateral held against an 
advance exceeded the outstanding amount, the value 
of the collateral was limited to the outstanding amount.

The Bank holds the following types of collateral within 
the following classes:

 � Mortgages: First mortgage bonds, personal and 
entity sureties;

 � Instalment sales and rentals: Assets financed, 
personal and entity sureties;

 � General: Hard collateral, such as cession of Bank 
deposits, and personal sureties.

For most forms of security, the collateral given is valued 
only on origination of the advance or in the course 
of enforcement actions. The value of security is not 
updated except where an advance is individually 
assessed as impaired. 

The Bank is permitted to sell and repledge all collateral 
it holds as security against advances. During the 2021 
and 2020 financial years, the Bank did not recognise 
any collateral it held as security against advances, as 
an asset of the Bank.

The Bank’s policies regarding obtaining collateral have 
not significantly changed during the reporting period 
and there has been no significant change in the overall 
quality of the collateral held by the Bank since the prior 
period.

The Bank closely monitors collateral held for financial 
assets considered to be credit-impaired, as it becomes 

more likely that the Bank will take possession of collateral 
to mitigate potential credit losses.

21.4.4  LOSS ALLOWANCE

The loss allowance recognised in the period is impacted 
by a variety of factors, as described below:

 � Transfers between Stage 1 and Stages 2 or 
3 due to financial instruments experiencing 
significant increases (or decreases) of credit risk or 
becoming credit-impaired in the period, and the 
consequent “step up” (or “step down”) between 
12-month and Lifetime ECL;

 � Additional allowances for new financial 
instruments recognised during the period, as well 
as releases for financial instruments derecognised 
in the period;

 � Impact on the measurement of ECL due to 
changes in PDs, EADs and LGDs in the period, 
arising from regular refreshing of inputs to models;

 � Impacts on the measurement of ECL due to 
changes made to models and assumptions; 

 � Discount unwind within ECL due to the passage of 
time, as ECL is measured on a present value basis;

 � Write-offs of allowances related to assets that 
were written off during the period (see note 
21.4.5).

The following tables explain the changes in the loss 
allowance between the beginning and the end of the 
annual period due to these factors:
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21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

21.4.4  LOSS ALLOWANCE (CONTINUED)

ECL STAGING STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 TOTAL

 12-month
ECL

Lifetime
expected ECL

Lifetime
expected ECL

RENTAL AGREEMENTS R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

LOSS ALLOWANCE AS AT 1 APRIL 2019  3 669 952  3 993    8 614

Adjustment: Change in assumptions 194  (131)                     - 63

Transfers

   Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2  (200)  2 263                     -  2 063

   Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (9 125)                -  22 084  12 959

   Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3                 -  (292) 972 680

   Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2                 - 9  (136)  (127)

   Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 5                -  (92)  (87)

   Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 59  (340)                     -  (281)

Decrease in allowance with no change 
in stage (1 351)  (65)  (839) (2 255)

New financial assets originated  9 301                -                     -  9 301

Financial assets derecognised  (321)  (38) (1 145) (1 504)

LOSS ALLOWANCE AS AT 31 MARCH 2020  2 231  2 358  24 837  29 426

Adjustment: Change in assumptions  1 209     111 11 290  12 610

Transfers

   Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (2 772)  4 087                     -  1 315

   Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3  (256)                -  1 114 858

   Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3                 -  (123) 424 301

   Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2                 -  5 960 (26 157) (20 197)

   Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 7                -  (460)  (453)

   Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 7  (148)                     -  (141)

(Decrease)/increase in allowance with 
no change in stage  (861) 28  (762) (1 595)

New financial assets originated  3 240                -                     -  3 240

Financial assets derecognised  (226)  (62) (3 536) (3 824)

LOSS ALLOWANCE AS AT 31 MARCH 2021  2 579  12 211  6 750  21 540

GBS Mutual Bank
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)

21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

21.4.4  LOSS ALLOWANCE (CONTINUED)

ECL STAGING STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 TOTAL

 12-month
ECL

Lifetime
expected ECL

Lifetime
expected ECL

INSTALMENT SALE AGREEMENTS R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

LOSS ALLOWANCE AS AT 1 APRIL 2019 463 165 717  1 345

Adjustment: Change in assumptions 20  (18)                    - 2

Transfers

   Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2  (40) 69                    - 29

   Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3  (831)                    -  3 235  2 404

   Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3                    -  (31) 140 109

   Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2                    -                    -                    -                 - 

   Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1                    -                    -                    -                 - 

   Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 1  (10)                    -  (9)

Decrease in allowance with no change 
in stage  (155)  (36)  (263)  (454)

New financial assets originated 831                    -                    - 831

Financial assets derecognised  (48)  (34)  (64)  (146)

LOSS ALLOWANCE AS AT 31 MARCH 2020 241 105  3 765  4 111

Adjustment: Change in assumptions 103 36  1 712  1 851

Transfers

   Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2  (546) 887                    - 341

   Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3  (66)                    - 66                 - 

   Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3                    -  (3)                    -  (3)

   Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2                    - 323 (2 875) (2 552)

   Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1                    -                    -                    -                 - 

   Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1                    -                    -                    -                 - 

(Decrease)/increase in allowance with 
no change in stage  (67)  (48)  (7)  (122)

New financial assets originated 651                    -                    - 651

Financial assets derecognised  (17)  (1) (1 572) (1 590)

LOSS ALLOWANCE AS AT 31 MARCH 2021 299  1 299  1 089  2 687

GBS Mutual Bank
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)
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21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

21.4.4 LOSS ALLOWANCE (CONTINUED)

The following table further explains changes in the gross carrying amount of the portfolio to help explain their 
significance to the changes in the loss allowance for the same portfolio as discussed above..

ECL STAGING STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 TOTAL

 12-month
ECL

Lifetime
expected 

ECL

Lifetime
expected 

ECL

RENTAL AGREEMENTS R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT AS AT 1 APRIL 2019  374 735  10 887  6 196 391 818

Transfers

 Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (4 827)  4 518             -  (309)

 Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (114 552)             -  95 477 (19 075)

 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3              - (3 899)  2 879 (1 020)

 Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2              - 104  (190)  (86)

 Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 70             -  (108)  (38)

 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1  3 384 (4 792)             - (1 408)

Decrease in carrying amount with no 
change in stage (81 563)  (444)  (279) (82 286)

New financial assets originated  178 253             -             -  178 253

Financial assets derecognised (29 526)  (159) (2 206) (31 891)

GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT AS AT 31 MARCH 2020  325 974  6 215  101 769  433 958

Transfers

 Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (43 672)  37 432             - (6 240)

 Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (2 633)             -  2 172  (461)

 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3              -  (603) 604 1

 Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2              -  69 317 (85 230) (15 913)

 Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 775             - (1 138)  (363)

 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 534  (738)             -  (204)

Decrease in carrying amount with no 
change in stage (81 849) (1 058) (2 000) (84 907)

New financial assets originated  140 453             -             -  140 453

Financial assets derecognised (26 713)  (824) (5 834) (33 371)

GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT AS AT 31 MARCH 2021  312 869  109 741  10 343  432 953

21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

21.4.4  LOSS ALLOWANCE (CONTINUED)

ECL STAGING STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 TOTAL

 12-month
ECL

Lifetime
expected ECL

Lifetime
expected ECL

MORTGAGES R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

LOSS ALLOWANCE AS AT 1 APRIL 2019 306 66  2 626  2 998

Adjustment: Change in assumptions  (7)  (10)                   -  (17)

Transfers

   Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2  (381)  2 142                   -  1 761

   Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3  (222)                   - 225 3

   Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3               -  (15) 147 132

   Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2               - 34  (395)  (361)

   Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1               -                   -  (685)  (685)

   Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1               -                   -                   -               - 

Decrease in allowance with no change 
in stage  (57)  (16)  (316)  (389)

New financial assets originated 547                   -                   - 547

Financial assets derecognised  (11)  (1)  (282)  (294)

LOSS ALLOWANCE AS AT 31 MARCH 2020 175  2 200  1 320  3 695

Adjustment: Change in assumptions 174  2 149 600  2 923

Transfers

   Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2  (8) 80                   - 72

   Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3               -                   -                   -               - 

   Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3               -  (193) 692 499

   Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2               -                   -                   -               - 

   Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1               -                   -                   -               - 

   Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 4  (212)                   -  (208)

(Decrease)/increase in allowance with 
no change in stage  (32) 181  (69) 80

New financial assets originated 112                   -                   - 112

Financial assets derecognised  (9)  (285)  (25)  (319)

LOSS ALLOWANCE AS AT 31 MARCH 2021 416  3 920  2 518  6 854

GBS Mutual Bank
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)
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21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

21.4.4  LOSS ALLOWANCE (CONTINUED)

ECL STAGING STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 TOTAL

 12-month
ECL

Lifetime
expected 

ECL

Lifetime
expected 

ECL

INSTALMENT SALE AGREEMENTS R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT AS AT 1 APRIL 2019   30 081 1 428  933 32 442

Transfers

 Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2  (722)  627             -  (95)

 Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (9 487)             -  6 963 (2 524)

 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3              - (298) 255  (43)

 Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2              -             -             -       - 

 Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1              -             -             -       - 

 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 44  (123)             -  (79)

Decrease in carrying amount with no 
change in stage (6 195)  (174)  (160) (6 529)

New financial assets originated  10 313             -             -  10 313

Financial assets derecognised (3 597)  (434)  (71) (4 102)

GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT AS AT 31 MARCH 2020  20 437  1 026  7 920  29 383

Transfers

 Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (6 087)  5 253             -  (834)

 Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3  (95)             - 95       - 

 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3              -  (26) 17  (9)

 Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2              -  2 676 (4 269) (1 593)

 Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1              -             -             -       - 

 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1              -             -             -       - 

(Decrease)/increase in carrying amount 
with no change in stage (4 410)  (313) 9 (4 714)

New financial assets originated  11 497             -             -  11 497

Financial assets derecognised (2 236)  (15) (2 328) (4 579)

GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT AS AT 31 MARCH 2021  19 106  8 601  1 444  29 151

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)
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21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

21.4.4  LOSS ALLOWANCE (CONTINUED)

ECL STAGING STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 TOTAL

 12-month
ECL

Lifetime
expected 

ECL

Lifetime
expected 

ECL

MORTGAGES R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT AS AT 1 APRIL 2019   720 262 12 210  22 955 755 427

Transfers

 Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (243 337)  246 287             -  2 950

 Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (6 648)             -  6 485  (163)

 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3              - (2 042)  2 622 580

 Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2              -  1 370 (1 401)  (31)

 Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1  5 674             - (5 646) 28

 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 675  (720)             -  (45)

Decrease in carrying amount with no 
change in stage (24 218)  (446)  (212) (24 876)

New financial assets originated  95 007             -             -  95 007

Financial assets derecognised (41 007)  (127) (4 750) (45 884)

GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT AS AT 31 MARCH 2020  506 408  256 532  20 053  782 993

Transfers

 Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (36 639)  35 005             - (1 634)

 Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3  (691)             - 639  (52)

 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3              - (4 289)  4 214  (75)

 Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2              -             -             -             - 

 Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1              -             -             -             - 

 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1  2 946 (3 443)             -  (497)

Decrease in carrying amount with no 
change in stage (16 208) (4 011) (1 050) (21 269)

New financial assets originated  83 705             -             -  83 705

Financial assets derecognised (27 371) (11 783) (1 240) (40 394)

GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT AS AT 31 MARCH 2021  512 150  268 011  22 616  802 777
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)

GBS Mutual Bank

21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

21.4.5  WRITE-OFF POLICY

The Bank writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical recovery efforts and 
has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation 
of recovery include (i) ceasing enforcement activity and (ii) where the Bank’s recovery method is foreclosing on 
collateral and the value of the collateral is such that there is no reasonable expectation of recovering in full.

21.4.6  GEOGRAPHICAL CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

Geographical sector risk concentrations within the customer advances portfolio were as follows:  

2021 EA STERN C APE   % WESTERN C APE   % OTHER   % TOTAL   %

Mortgage loans 77 22  1 100

General 100  -  - 100

Instalment sales and rentals 22 42 36 100

ECL stage 3 impairment provision 78 5 17 100

2020 EA STERN C APE   % WESTERN C APE   % OTHER   % TOTAL   %

Mortgage loans 74  25  1 100

General 95  5                            -  100

Instalment sales and rentals 21  52  27 100

ECL stage 3 impairment provision 32  26  42 100

21.4.7  COVID-19 DEBT RELIEF MEASURES PROVIDED  
TO CLIENTS

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and its resultant impact 
on the economy, a liquidity crisis was experienced by 
a number of the Bank’s clients. In order to assist clients, 
those who were in good standing could apply for a 
payment holiday. 

Most payment holidays were granted between March 
2020 and July 2020 and varied from between 3 to 6 
months in duration. At the end of a payment holiday, the 
loan was restructured and arrear payments capitalised 
to the outstanding loan balance. The payment term of 
the loan was extended by the period of the payment 
holiday. 

As payment holidays affect the future contractual cash 
flows of loan agreements, the payment holidays and 
subsequent restructures were therefore treated as a loan 
modification in terms of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The 
amortised cost of the restructured loans immediately prior 
to the granting of the payment holidays was R392 321 000 
while at 31 March 2021 the amortised cost of these loans 
had declined to R350 531 000. No modification gains or 
losses arose on restructuring these loans.

21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

21.5.2  PRICE RISK

The following demonstrates the Bank's interest rate repricing mismatch at 31 March:

2021
0 – 31  DAYS

R’000
32 – 90  DAYS

R’000
91 – 365  DAYS

R’000
OTHER

R’000

Assets  1 349 075   20 163 31 285 291 706  

Liabilities (291 188)  (207 262) (403 101) (573 610)

Other                 -                -  - (217 068)

  1 057 887  (187 099) (371 816) (498 972)

2020
0 – 31  DAYS

R’000
32 – 90  DAYS

R’000
91 – 365  DAYS

R’000
OTHER

R’000

Assets  1 364 210 71 235 25 435 111 706

Liabilities  (276 776) (248 864) (512 400) (337 658)

Other                 -                 -               - (196 888)

 1 087 434 (177 629) (486 965) (422 840)

The table below lists financial instruments accounted for at fair value, the values of which fluctuate with a 
combination of changes in stock market indices, interest rate cycles and exchange rate fluctuations. As there are 
no published indices to benchmark these investments against, it is not possible to quantify possible gains or losses 
on these investments with the movement in the equity market, fixed interest market or currency fluctuations.

2021
R’000

2020
R’000

Endowment Policy 50 883 49 886 

Preference Shares 29 097 8 600 

Nedgroup Investments Core Income Fund 43 523 21 502 

Nedgroup Investments Cash Solution  154 25 897 

Medical Investment 7 550 5 821 

131 207 111 706 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)

GBS Mutual Bank

21.5  MARKET RISK

The Bank is exposed to market risk, which is the risk that 
the Bank's earnings or capital, or its ability to meet 
business objectives, will be adversely affected by 
changes in the level or volatility of market rates or prices 
such as interest rates and equity prices. 

Market risk arises from the Bank’s holding of assets that 
are exposed to general and specific market movements. 
Essentially, they comprise government bonds, which 
are held to maturity and thus limits the Bank’s exposure, 
investments in preference shares, an endowment policy 
and unit trusts (refer note 5).

21.5.1 INTEREST RATE RISK 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the Bank's financial 
performance and condition may be adversely affected 
as a result of changes in interest rate levels. The Bank is 
exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing 
levels of market interest rates on its financial position, 
financial performance and cash flows. Interest rate 
margins are monitored as part of the Bank’s normal risk 
management processes. 

21.5.1  INTEREST RATE RISK (CONTINUED)

In order to preserve the Bank's liquidity and provide an 
adequate second tier capital base, fixed period shares 
having a fixed interest rate and redemption date are 
issued, as considered necessary. In a declining or low 
interest rate environment this has a negative impact on 
the Bank's net interest margin.

A 1% increase in the prime rate is expected to increase 
pre-tax net margins by R8 750 000 (2020: R7 176 000) per 
annum and a 1% decrease is expected to reduce pre-
tax net margins by R8 800 000 (2020: R7 250 000) per 
annum. In order to determine the sensitivity of the pre-
tax net margins to interest rate repricing, an assessment 
was made of the effect of an increase or decrease in 
the prime interest rate on all variable advances and 
loans and deposits to determine the impact on interest 
income and interest expense.
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21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

21.5.2  PRICE RISK (CONTINUED) 

ENDOWMENT POLICY
This is a tax free, liquid investment which is and has been held for the long-term to enhance the yield on surplus 
cash. The investment is held in a policy of insurance whose assets are invested in equities, cash, bonds, property 
and commodity investments.   

2021
%

2020
%

Equities  66  71 

Cash  10  2 

Bonds  10  6 

Property  13  19 

Other  1  2 

The policy is a smooth bonus investment declaring an 
interim bonus rate at the beginning of each year and a 
final bonus shortly after the year end. The year end of the 
policy is however not co-terminus with that of the Bank. 
The objective is to smooth out investment gains over a 
period of time thereby enabling bonus declarations in 
periods of poor or even negative returns.

PREFERENCE SHARES
The preference shares are long-term liquid investments 
held to enhance the yield on our surplus cash. The 
yield on the investments is set at a fixed percentage 
of the prime overdraft rate (refer note 5 for the various 
percentages). As the rate attached to the preference 
shares is not a fixed coupon rate, the capital value 
should not react to rises and falls in interest rates in 
the same manner as bonds. Share price fluctuations 
rather reflect investor sentiment which could be driven 
by potential changes in tax or Bank legislation, and/or 
other fixed interest investments available in the market.

NEDGROUP INVESTMENTS CORE INCOME FUND
The portfolio aims to preserve capital, but provide returns 
in excess of that offered by a traditional money market 
portfolio. The mandate is, however, more flexible and 
the average portfolio duration will be longer than that of 
traditional money market portfolios. Consequently, the 
liquidity of this portfolio is less than that of a traditional 
money market portfolio.

NEDGROUP INVESTMENTS CASH SOLUTION
The fund is a money market fund that invests only in 
the highest quality paper available with a maximum 
exposure to any counter-party of 25%. The Nedgroup 
Investments Corporate Money Market Fund aims to 
maximize interest income while protecting the initial 

capital and providing immediate liquidity to investors 
by investing in short-term money market instruments 
of the highest quality. The portfolio may be invested 
in instruments issued by large domestic Banks, namely 
ABSA, Standard Bank, First National Bank, Nedbank and 
any other domestic Bank that is rated F1+ or better, and 
local branches of foreign Banks with an AA or better 
rating. The Corporate Money Market Fund may also 
invest in South African government debt, instruments 
explicitly guaranteed by the South African Government 
and with the South African Reserve Bank.

MEDICAL INVESTMENT
The medical investment was created as partial funding 
for the post-retirement healthcare obligation. This long-
term investment is made up of unit trust investments, 
spread over two asset managers, with the asset 
allocation largely reflecting a balanced portfolio of 
equities, cash, bonds, property and offshore investments. 
Their percentage allocations are broadly similar to those 
reflected above in the Endowment Policy.

21.6 LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet its 
payment obligations when they fall due and to replace 
funds when they are withdrawn, the consequence of 
which may be the failure to meet obligations to repay 
depositors and fulfil commitments to lend.

The risk that it will be unable to do so is inherent in all 
banking operations and can be impacted by a range 
of institution-specific and market-wide events.

The Bank is exposed to liquidity risk relating to daily 
calls on its cash resources from call accounts, savings

21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  
(CONTINUED)

21.6 LIQUIDITY RISK (CONTINUED)

accounts, maturing deposits and loan drawdowns. 
The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability 
to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing 
liabilities as they mature, are important factors in 
controlling the Bank’s exposure to liquidity risk.

The Bank's policy with respect to managing liquidity risk is 
conservative in that policies dictate that approximately 
twenty percent of deposits maturing within twelve 
months must be held in cash or liquid investments, 
which comfortably exceeds the statutory minimum 
liquid asset requirements. In addition we meet annually 
with our bankers to ensure our credit lines are in place. 
Liquidity is reviewed bi-weekly by the Risk Management 
Sub-committee. Liquidity risk management is consistent 
with that of the previous year.

No assets of the Bank have been pledged as collateral 
for financial liabilities.

The tables in note 22 provide details on the contractual 
maturity and mismatch position of all financial 
instruments and other assets and liabilities, using 
historical data, on a discounted and undiscounted 
basis.

21.7  FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Bank is not exposed to any foreign exchange risk 
through the Bank's normal operations.

22. LIQUIDITY RISK ANALYSIS
The tables on pages 64 to 67 provide detail on the 
contractual maturity and mismatch position of all 
financial instruments and other assets and liabilities.

23. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
In terms of IAS 10 Events after the reporting period, 
adjusting events after the reporting period are those 
that provide evidence of conditions that existed at 
the end of the reporting period. No such events have 
occurred up until the date these financial statements 
were authorised for issue.

24. GOING CONCERN
The Directors assessed the Bank’s future performance 
and financial position and evaluated the Bank’s budget, 
cash flows and capital plan for the next four years and 
considered the Bank’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in light of current and anticipated economic 
conditions. The budget, cash flows and capital plan 
took the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic into 
consideration. 

Forecast earnings growth and risk-weighted assets are 
based on the Bank’s macroeconomic outlook and are 
evaluated against available financial resources and 
requirements of regulators.

On the basis of this assessment, and in light of the current 
financial performance, the Directors are satisfied that 
the Bank has adequate resources to continue operating 
for the foreseeable future. These financial statements 
are therefore prepared on a going concern basis.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)
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22. LIQUIDITY RISK ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
The table below provides detail on the contractual maturity and mismatch position of all financial instruments 
and other assets and liabilities:

2021

DISCOUNTED MATURITY

REDEEMABLE  
ON DEMAND

R’000

MATURING  
WITHIN 1

MONTH
R’000

MATURING
 AFTER 1

MONTH BUT  
WITHIN 6
MONTHS

R’000

MATURING  
AFTER 6  

MONTHS
BUT  

WITHIN 12  
MONTHS

R’000

MATURING
AFTER 12
 MONTHS

R’000
TOTAL

R’000

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Cash: Bank balances and deposits         -  26 325 66 965      -      -  93 290

Cash: SA Reserve Bank balance         -      -      -      -  34 242  34 242

Cash: Cash on hand  1 024      -      -      - -  1 024

Advances: Mortgage         -  266 34  989  801 488  802 777

Advances: General         -  5 990  1 330  214  3 644  11 178

Advances: Instalment sales and rentals         -  1 966  5 474 13 094  441 570  462 104

Investments: Fixed Deposits         -      - 26 240 25 208      -  51 448

Investments: Other  102 110      -      -      - -  102 110

Investments: Preference Share Securities  29 097      -      -      - -  29 097

Investments: Government Bonds         -      -      -      -  164 296  164 296

Sundry Debtors         -  809      -      - -  809

 132 231  35 356 100 043 39 505 1 445 240 1 752 375

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Deposits (21 648) (280 066)  (227 773)  (326 556) (737 959)  (1 594 002)

Lease Liabilities         - (50)  (251) (334)  (1 723)  (2 358)

Sundry Creditors         -  (2 818)      -      -      -  (2 818)

(21 648) (282 934)  (228 024)  (326 890) (739 682)  (1 599 178)

Total recognised financial instruments  110 583 (247 578)  (127 981)  (287 385)  705 558  153 197

Financial guarantees         -      - (30 193)      -      - (30 193)

Irrevocable unutilised facilities         -  (6 852)      -  (84 532)      - (91 384)

Total unrecognised financial instruments         -  (6 852) (30 193)  (84 532)      - (121 577)

Net inflow/(outflow)  110 583 (254 430)  (158 174)  (371 917)  705 558  31 620

GBS Mutual Bank
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)

22. LIQUIDITY RISK ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

2021

UNDISCOUNTED (STATEMENT 
OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
VALUES WITH IMPACT OF 
FUTURE INTEREST)

REDEEMABLE 
ON DEMAND

R’000

MATURING
 WITHIN  

1 MONTH
R’000

MATURING 
AFTER  

1 MONTH 
BUT 

WITHIN  
6 MONTHS

R’000

MATURING 
AFTER  

6 MONTHS  
BUT 

WITHIN  
12 MONTHS

R’000

MATURING 
AFTER  

12 MONTHS
R’000

 
DISCOUNTING

EFFECT
R’000

TOTAL
R’000

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Cash: Bank balances and 
deposits  -   26 326  67 252        -       - (288) 93 290  

Cash: SA Reserve Bank 
balance  -         -       -       - 34 242        - 34 242  

Cash: Cash on hand 1 024        -       -       -       -       -  1 024  

Advances: Mortgage  -    267  35  1 049  1 502 529  (701 103) 802 777  

Advances: General  -   6 015  1 370   229  6 257   (2 693) 11 178  

Advances: Instalment sales 
and rentals  -   1 976  5 663  14 265  592 385  (152 185) 462 104  

Investments: Fixed Deposits  -         - 26 475  26 390        -  (1 417) 51 448  

Investments: Other 102 110        -       -       -       -       - 102 110  

Investments: Preference Share 
Securities 29 097        -       -       -       -       - 29 097  

Investments: Government 
Bonds  -         -       -       - 244 943  (80 647) 164 296  

Sundry Debtors  -    809        -       -       -       - 809  

132 231  35 393  100 795  41 933  2 380 356  (938 333)  1 752 375  

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Deposits  (21 648)  (280 202)  (231 961)  (341 132)  (886 560)  167 501  (1 594 002)

Lease Liabilities  -    (65)  (323)  (407)  (1 917)  354  (2 358)

Sundry Creditors  -    (2 818)       -       -       -       - (2 818)

 (21 648)  (283 085)  (232 284)  (341 539)  (888 477)  167 855  (1 599 178)

Total recognised financial 
instruments 110 583   (247 692)  (131 489)  (299 606) 1 491 879  (770 478) 153 197  

Financial guarantees  -         -  (30 193)       -       -       - (30 193)

Irrevocable unutilised facilities  -    (6 852)       -  (84 532)       -       - (91 384)

Total unrecognised financial 
instruments  -    (6 852)  (30 193)  (84 532)       -       -  (121 577)

Net inflow/(outflow) 110 583   (254 544)  (161 682)  (384 138) 1 491 879  (770 478) 31 620  

GBS Mutual Bank
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)

GBS Mutual Bank

22. LIQUIDITY RISK ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

2020

DISCOUNTED MATURITY

REDEEMABLE  
ON DEMAND  

R’000  

MATURING  
WITHIN 

1 MONTH
R’000

MATURING
 AFTER 1  

MONTH 
BUT

 WITHIN 6
MONTHS

R’000

MATURING  
AFTER 

6 MONTHS
BUT  

WITHIN 12  
MONTHS

R’000

MATURING
AFTER 

12 MONTHS
R’000

TOTAL
R’000

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Cash: Bank balances and deposits              - 89 609 27 671            -         - 117 280

Cash: SA Reserve Bank balance              -     -         -            - 31 558 31 558

Cash: Treasury bills              - 29 903 43 607            -         - 73 510

Cash: Cash on hand 1 206     -         -            -         - 1 206

Advances: Mortgage              -  160  352  407 782 074 782 993

Advances: General              - 7 350 1 445  471 1 310 10 576

Advances: Instalment sales and rentals              - 2 683 3 428 12 759 444 471 463 341

Investments: Fixed Deposits              -     - 17 178 25 435         - 42 613

Investments: Other 103 106     -         -            -         - 103 106

Investments: Investec Securities 8 600     -         -            -         - 8 600

Sundry Debtors              -  724         -            -         -  724

112 912 130 429 93 681 39 072 1 259 413 1 635 507

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Deposits (16 723) (272 606) (280 531) (397 328) (513 209) (1 480 397)

Lease Liabilities              - (28) (140) (187) (1 167) (1 522)

Sundry Creditors              - (2 956)         -            -         - (2 956)

(16 723) (275 590) (280 671) (397 515) (514 376) (1 484 875)

Total recognised financial instruments  96 189 (145 161) (186 990)  (358 443)  745 037  150 632

Financial guarantees              -     - (43 742)            -         - (43 742)

Irrevocable unutilised facilities              - (8 175)         - (37 454)         - (45 629)

Total unrecognised financial instruments              - (8 175) (43 742) (37 454)         - (89 371)

Net inflow/(outflow) 96 189 (153 336) (230 732) (395 897) 745 037 61 261

22. LIQUIDITY RISK ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

2020  

UNDISCOUNTED 
(STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION 
VALUES WITH IMPACT OF 
FUTURE INTEREST)

REDEEMABLE  
ON DEMAND

R’000

MATURING
 WITHIN 1

MONTH
R’000

MATURING 
AFTER 1 
MONTH 

BUT 
WITHIN  

6 MONTHS
R’000

MATURING 
AFTER 6 

MONTHS 
BUT WITHIN 
12 MONTHS

R’000

MATURING  
AFTER 12
MONTHS

R’000

 
DISCOUNTING

EFFECT
R’000

TOTAL
R’000

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Cash: Bank balances and 
deposits             - 89 747 27 926        -        - (393)  117 280

Cash: SA Reserve Bank 
balance             -        -        -        - 31 558        - 31 558

Cash: Treasury bills             - 30 000 44 000        -        - (490) 73 510

Cash: Cash on hand 1 206         -        -        -        -        - 1 206

Advances: Mortgage             -  160  364  442 1 750 570 (968 543)  782 993

Advances: General             - 7 384 1 492  510 1 925 (735) 10 576

Advances: Instalment sales 
and rentals             - 2 697 3 550 13 908 617 681 (174 495)  463 341

Investments: Fixed Deposits             -        - 17 381 27 000        - (1 768) 42 613

Investments: Other 103 106        -        -        -        -        -  103 106

Investments: Investec 
Securities 8 600        -        -        -        -        - 8 600

Sundry Debtors             -  724        -        -        -        -  724

112 912 130 712 94 713 41 860 2 401 734  (1 146 424) 1 635 507

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Deposits  (16 723)  (272 855)  (287 062)  (420 982)  (619 411)  136 636  (1 480 397)

Lease Liabilities             -  (38)  (188)  (238)  (1 314) 256  (1 522)

Sundry Creditors             -  (2 956)        -        -        -        -  (2 956)

 (16 723)  (275 849)  (287 250)  (421 220)  (620 725)  136 892  (1 484 875)

Total recognised financial 
instruments 96 189  (145 137)  (192 537)  (379 360) 1 781 009  (1 009 532)  150 632 

Financial guarantees             -        -  (43 742)        -        -        -  (43 742)

Irrevocable unutilised 
facilities             -  (8 175)        -  (37 454)        -        -  (45 629)

Total unrecognised financial 
instruments             -  (8 175)  (43 742)  (37 454)        -        -  (89 371)

Net inflow/(outflow) 96 189  (153 312)  (236 279)  (416 814) 1 781 009 (1 009 532) 61 261

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 (CONTINUED)
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Community Projects  
and Sponsorships
GBS Mutual Bank has, for many years, rendered financial 
assistance and support to many different entities – 
educational, welfare and a myriad other organisations 
within our communities. This financial assistance, effective 
on an annual basis, goes a long way to alleviating some of 
the demanding costs involved in the running and upkeep 
of these bodies. The beneficiaries of these donations and 
financial support include retirement centres and homes, 
hospitals, health care facilities, primary schools, high 
schools and animal welfare societies.

The COVID-19 coronavirus has had a devastating and 
debilitating effect on almost every sphere of life. With 
the stringent COVID-19 pandemic lockdown restrictions 
and regulations in place, a number of the usual 
community activities supported by GBS Mutual Bank 
had to be cancelled. These included:

 � The annual dinners hosted by GBS Mutual Bank 
in Makhanda, Port Alfred and Gqeberha to 
recognise and show the Bank’s appreciation to 
valued clients and investors, as well as recognising 
the endeavours of board members, staff and 
service providers. 

 � The Financial Skills Programme with the objective 
of providing people in the Makana district with the 
necessary skills required to manage their personal 
finances more efficiently and effectively.

 � The GBS Mutual Bank Mountain Drive Half-

Marathon, a popular road running event usually 
held in and around Makhanda in August each 
year. In past years the event has attracted large 
fields of athletes from Gqeberha, Kariega, Port 
Alfred, East London, Makhanda and other centres.

GBS Mutual Bank looks forward to resuming its financial 
support and sponsorship of these cancelled activities 
once the COVID-19 restrictions have been lifted.

The Bank maintained its regular annual donations. 
However, the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions left an 
increasing number of people without employment and 
incomes, leading to widespread hunger in Makhanda. 
The costs saved from the cancellation of the GBS 
Mutual Bank annual dinners were therefore reallocated 
to three additional food-related donations: 

 � The “Food4Futures” food parcel programme.
 � The Rotary Club of Grahamstown Sunset’s Hunger 

Relief Project.
 � The Makana Revive Trust’s “Community Fasting” 

feeding scheme.

The Bank did co-sponsor a scenario planning workshop, 
conducted under the auspices of the Makhanda Circle 
of Unity’s Local Economic Development (LED) Cluster 
that considered the impact of COVID-19 on the local 
economy.

ABOVE: During the extended COVID-19 pandemic period in 
Makhanda, volunteers of the Food4Futures feeding group put 
in many hours of invaluable work packing thousands of food 
parcels for members of the community. GBS Mutual Bank 
assisted Food4Futures with funds to purchase much-needed 
supplies, and the group of volunteers distributed the food to 
the needy in the community.  
RIGHT: The COVID-19 lockdown period was a particularly 
stressful and difficult time in Makhanda, and many residents 
went hungry. GBS Mutual Bank donated funds to the Rotary 
Club of Grahamstown Sunset to feed residents. 
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